SOLID WASTE SERVICES AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

COUNTY OF EL DORADO

AND

EL DORADO DISPOSAL SERVICE

Effective date:

14-1047 B 1 of 80

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>R E C</u>	CITALS	1
<u>SECT</u>	ΓΙΟΝ 1 - DEFINITIONS	2
A.	AB 939	2
B.	AB 32	2
C.	AB 341	2
D.	Affiliate	2
E.	Alternative Daily Cover	2
F.	Assignment	2
G.	Bin	2
H.	Biomass Conversion Facility	2
I.	Board of Supervisors	3
J.	Bulky Waste / Bulky Items	3
K.	CalRecycle	3
L.	Can	3
M.	Cart	3
N.	Change in Control	3
0.	Collect / Collection	3
P.	Commercial Solid Waste	3
Q.	Commencement Date	3
R.	Compactor	3
S.	Compostable Material	3
т.	Conditionally Exempt Small Quantity Generators	4
U.	Construction and Demolition Debris	4
V.	Contract Administrator	4
W.	Contractor	4

Х.	County	4
Y.	County Facilities	5
Z.	Disposal	5
AA.	Divert / Diversion	5
BB.	El Dorado County Solid Waste Management Plan	5
CC.	Electronic Waste / E-Waste	5
DD.	Food Waste	5
EE.	Forest Biomass	5
FF.	Forested Land	5
GG.	Franchise Area	5
HH.	Franchise Fee	6
II.	Generator	6
JJ.	Group Collection Area	6
KK.	Green Waste / Yard Waste	6
LL.	Hazardous Waste or Materials	6
MM.	Household Hazardous Waste / HHW	7
NN.	Industrial Solid Waste	7
00.	Landfill / Solid Waste Landfill	7
PP.	Large Venue Special Event Collection Services	7
QQ.	Material Recovery Facility / MRF	7
RR.	Material Recovery Services	7
SS.	Medical Waste / Infectious Waste	7
TT.	Multi-Family Unit	8
UU.	Operating Year	8
VV.	Permanent Household Hazardous Waste Collection Facility	8
WW.	Prior Agreements	8
XX.	Process	8

YY.	Processing Residues	8
ZZ.	Recovered Material	8
AAA.	Recyclables / Recyclable Material	9
BBB.	Recycle	9
CCC.	Repurposing	9
DDD.	Residual	9
EEE.	Residential Solid Waste	9
FFF.	Roll-Off Containers	9
GGG.	Self-Haul Customer	9
ННН.	Single-Family Unit	10
III.	Solid Waste / Municipal Solid Waste / MSW	10
JJJ.	Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated Area	
KKK.	Special Wastes	10
LLL.	Transformation	10
MMM.	Transfer Station / Processing Station / Station	11
NNN.	Universal Waste	11
000.	Used Oil	11
PPP.	Used Oil Collection Service (Residential Only)	11
QQQ.	Used Oil Container (Residential Only)	11
RRR.	Used Oil Filter (Residential Only)	11
SSS.	Used Oil Filter Container (Residential Only)	11
TTT.	Wastestream	11
UUU.	White Goods	12
	ON 2 - PRIOR AGREEMENTS	<u>12</u>
	HISE	12

A.	Grant of Franchise	12
B.	Acceptance of Franchise	12
C.	Exceptions to Exclusivity	13
D.	Sale or Donation of Recyclables	13
E.	Franchise Area	14
F.	Rights Reserved as to Hazardous Wastes, Medical Wastes, Special Wastes, and Forest Biomass	14
G.	Enforcement of Exclusivity of Franchise	14
<u>SECTI(</u>	ON 4 - FRANCHISE FEES / OTHER COMPENSATION	14
A.	Franchise Fees	14
B.	Other Compensation	15
<u>SECTI</u>	ON 5 - COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS	15
A.	Compliance with Federal, State, and Local Laws	15
B.	Nondiscrimination	15
<u>SECTI</u>	ON 6 - SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLABLE COLLECTION SERVICES	16
A.	County to Approve All Services	16
B.	Initial Service Levels / Expanded Services	16
C.	Once A Week Service	17
D.	Biweekly Service	17
E.	Hours of Collection	18
F.	Manner of Collection	18
G.	Service on County and Non-County Maintained Roads	18
H.	Extreme Snow Events	19
I.	On-Call	19
J.	Collection on Holidays	19
K.	Christmas Tree Collection	19

L.	Bulky Waste / Bulky Item Pick-Up and Bulky Waste / Bulky Item Vouchers	20
М.	Green Waste	20
N.	Community Clean-Up Events	20
0.	Large Venue Special Event Collection Services	21
P.	Used Oil / Used Oil Filter Collection	21
Q.	Batteries	21
R.	Curbside Voucher for Household Paint and Fluorescent Tubes / Bulbs	22
S.	Medical, Hazardous, Special, and Universal Wastes	22
T.	Unsecured Load Fee	22
U.	Spillage and Litter	22
V.	Pick-up of Illegally Disposed Waste	22
W.	Containers	23
X.	Inspections	25
Y.	Waste Generation and Characterization Studies	25
Z.	Site Waste Assessment	25
AA.	Sustainability coordinator	25
BB.	Participation in Advisory Committees	25
CC.	Solid Waste Management Plan Goal Implementation	25
DD.	Procurement Policy	25
EE.	Emergency Services	26
FF.	Non-Collection Due to Non-Payment	26
GG.	Charges / Non-Collection for Excess Solid Waste	26
<u>SECT</u>	ION 7 - MATERIALS RECOVERY SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED BY CONTRACTOR	27
A.	Self-Haul Operations	27
B.	General Responsibilities and Compensation	27
C.	Material Recovery Facility / WERS	27
D.	Single Stream Material Recovery Facility	28
	[v]	

E.	Material Recovery Facility	28
F.	Performance Criteria	28
<u>SECT</u>	TION 8 – PERMANENT HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE COLLECTION FACILITY	<u>29</u>
A.	Overall Responsibilities	29
B.	Compliance With Laws	30
C.	Safety of Persons and Property	30
D.	Repair and Maintenance of the PHHWCF and PHHWCF Site	31
E.	Personnel	31
F.	Operating Period / Receiving Time / Legal Holidays	31
G.	Weighing of Conditionally Exempt Small Quantity Generator's Hazardous Waste .	32
H.	Closure	32
I.	Subcontractor	32
<u>SECT</u>	ΓΙΟΝ 9 – FACILITIES FOR SOLID WASTE PROCESSING AND DISPOSAL	<u>32</u>
A.	Contractor To Provide Fully Permitted Disposal Facility	32
B.	Contractor To Provide Fully Permitted Material Recovery and Transfer Facilities	33
C.	Disposal in Compliance with Laws and Regulations	33
D.	Future Facilities for Solid Waste Processing and Disposal Advanced Technologies	.33
E.	MRF Modernization	33
<u>SECT</u>	ΓΙΟΝ 10 - CASH BOND AND INSURANCE	<u>34</u>
A.	Cash Bond	34
B.	Insurance	35
<u>SEC1</u>	ΓΙΟΝ 11 – TERM	<u>36</u>
A.	Initial Term	36
B.	Renewal Options	37

<u>SEC</u>	ΓΙΟΝ 12 - FRANCHISE TRANSFERABLE / CONSENT REQUIRED	
A.	No Assignment without Consent	
B.	Assignment Defined	
C.	"Change in Control" Defined	
D.	Transition	
E.	Breach	
F.	County's Option to Terminate / Conditions to Assignment	
G.	Conditions for Obtaining County's Consent	
<u>SEC</u>	ГІОN 13 - FRANCHISE TRANSFER FEES	
A.	Transfer Fees	40
B.	Non-Recoverable Costs	40
<u>SECT</u>	ГІОN 14 - PERFORMANCE STANDARDS	
A.	Intent	41
B.	Administrative Charges	41
C.	Notice of Intent to Assess Administrative Charges	43
D.	Procedure for Review of Administrative Charges	43
<u>SEC</u>	ΓΙΟΝ 15 - TERMINATION	
A.	Material Breach of Contractor's Obligations	44
B.	Contractor's Default	
C.	Events of Insolvency	45
D.	No Waivers	45
E.	Termination	46
F.	Right to Suspend	46
G.	Right to Perform Services	46
H.	Nonexclusive Remedies	46

<u>SEC</u>	TION 16 - RIGHTS OF COUNTY TO PERFORM DURING EMERGENCY	47
A.	Emergency Collection	47
B.	Contractor to Cooperate	
C.	Contractor to Pay County Costs	47
D.	Right to Perform	47
E.	Contractor's Notice	
F.	Interruption of Collection Service	48
<u>SEC</u>	FION 17 – PRIVACY	
A.	Privacy of Customer Information	
B.	Mailing Lists	
C.	Video Camera Monitoring	49
<u>SEC</u>	TION 18 - RECORDS AND ACCOUNTING	
A.	Financial Reporting	49
B.	Service Records	
C.	Underpayment of Franchise Fees	50
D.	Examination of Financial Records	50
E.	Public Records	51
F.	County Access to Customer Lists	51
G.	Billing and Payment	51
<u>SEC</u>	TION 19 - REPORTS AND ADVERSE INFORMATION	52
A.	Annual Reports	52
B.	Quarterly Reports	53
C.	Monthly Reports	53
D.	Vendor Change Notification	53
E.	Adverse Information	54

[viii]

F.	Future Legislation	54
<u>SEC'</u>	TION 20 - REVIEW OF PERFORMANCE AND QUALITY OF SERVICE	54
A.	Performance Review	54
B.	Public Hearing	55
C.	Report on Performance	55
D.	Customer Satisfaction Survey	55
<u>SEC'</u>	TION 21 - SYSTEM AND SERVICES REVIEW	5 <u>5</u>
A.	Public Hearing	55
B.	Contractor's Report	55
C.	Services Review Topics	56
D.	Contractor Cooperation	56
E.	County's Report	56
<u>SEC'</u>	TION 22 – COMPENSATION	56
<u>SEC'</u>	TION 23 - COLLECTION EQUIPMENT	<u>56</u>
A.	Vehicle Standards	56
B.	Low Emissions Requirement	57
C.	Weight Restrictions	57
D.	Equipment List	57
<u>SEC'</u>	TION 24 - PUBLIC ACCESS TO CONTRACTOR	57
A.	Office Hours	57
B.	Regular Meetings With the County	58
<u>SEC'</u>	TION 25 - CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS	58
A.	Service Complaints	58
B.	Complaint Resolution	58
	[ix]	

C.	County Review of Complaints	
D.	Remedy	59
E.	Non-Collection Tags	59
<u>SEC</u>	TION 26 - SERVICE EXCEPTIONS / HAZARDOUS WASTE NOTIFICATIONS	59
A.	Compliance with Hazardous Waste Laws	59
B.	Notice to Agencies Regarding Toxics	59
C.	Inspection for Toxics	59
D.	No Collection or Disposal of Hazardous Waste	60
E.	Ammunitions, Explosives, or other Ordnance	60
F.	Hazardous Waste Program	60
<u>SEC</u>	TION 27 – INDEMNIFICATION	60
A.	Indemnification of County	60
B.	Hazardous Substance Indemnification	61
C.	AB 939 Indemnification	61
<u>SEC</u>	TION 28 – GENERAL PROVISIONS	62
A.	Force Majeure	62
B.	Strikes or Similar Labor Action	63
C.	Independent Contractor	64
D.	Right of Entry	64
E.	Law to Govern / Venue	64
F.	Fees and Gratuities	64
G.	Prior Agreements and Amendments	64
H.	Compliance with Agreement	65
I.	Notices	65
J.	Savings Clause and Entirety	65

К.	Entire Agreement / Incorporation of Exhibits	65
L.	Joint Drafting	66
М.	Judicial Review	66
N.	Police Powers	66
0.	Successors and Assigns	66
P.	Survival	66
Q.	Administrator	66
R.	No Use of County Name	66
S.	Parties in Interest	66
T.	Waiver	66
<u>EXHI</u>	IBIT LIST	68
A.	Franchise Area	68
B.	Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated A	
C.	Proposed Draft Residential and Commercial Rates and Charges	
D.	August 13, 2014 Letter "El Dorado Disposal Long Term Hauling Contract and Improvements to Western El Dorado Recovery System's Material Recovery and Transfer Facility	
E.	Contingency Plan	68

This Solid Waste Services Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into, effective _

_____, 2014, between the County of El Dorado ("County"), and Waste Connections of California, Inc., California Corporation, dba El Dorado Disposal ("Contractor") for the Collection, transportation, Processing, and Disposal of Solid Waste and Recyclable Materials.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Legislature of the State of California, by enactment of the California Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989 ("AB 939"), has declared that it is within the public interest to authorize and require local agencies to make adequate provisions for Solid Waste handling within their jurisdictions; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors determines and finds that the public health, safety, and well-being require an exclusive franchise be awarded to a qualified Solid Waste enterprise for the Collection and recovery of Solid Waste from certain residential, industrial, and commercial areas in the County of El Dorado ("County"); and

WHEREAS, the County and Contractor are mindful of the provisions of the laws governing the safe Collection, transport, Recycling, and Disposal of Solid Waste, including the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA"), and the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act ("CERCLA"); and

WHEREAS, the County has not and, by this Agreement does not, instruct Contractor on its Collection methods, nor supervise the Collection of Solid Waste; and

WHEREAS, Contractor has represented and warranted to the County that it has the experience, responsibility, and qualifications to arrange with residents, commercial, industrial, institutional, and other entities in the Franchise Area for the Collection and safe transport to a MRF and/or Transfer Station and/or Disposal facilities of MSW, and Recyclable Materials; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors determines and finds that the public health, safety, and well-being would be best served if Contractor were to make arrangements with residents and other entities to perform these services; and

WHEREAS, the County is willing to grant Contractor a new Solid Waste Services Agreement in view of Contractor's prior satisfactory service in the Franchise Area and to enable the County to reach its State mandated Recycling goals; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors declares its intention of maintaining reasonable rates for Collection, transportation, Processing, and Disposal of Solid Waste within the area covered by this grant of franchise.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS

Whenever any term used in this Agreement has been defined by the El Dorado County Ordinance Code 8.42 ("Ordinance Code") or Division 30, Part 1, Chapter 2 of the California Public Resources Code, the definitions in the Ordinance Code or Public Resources Code shall apply unless the term is otherwise defined in this Agreement.

A. AB 939

"AB 939" means the California Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989, Public Resources Code section 40000, et seq., as it may be amended from time to time.

B. AB 32

"AB 32" means the California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006, California Health & Safety Code section 38500, et seq., as it may be amended from time to time.

C. AB 341

"AB 341" means the Mandatory Commercial Recycling Regulation approved by the Office of Administrative Law in May 2012, Title 14, California Code of Regulations, Chapter 9.1, commencing with section 18835. Includes SB 1018 signed by the Governor in June 2012.

D. AFFILIATE

"Affiliate" means Contractor, its officers, directors, shareholders, employees, and any corporation, partnership, joint venture, or other entity directly or indirectly controlling Contractor, or directly or indirectly owned or controlled by Contractor or its principals.

E. ALTERNATIVE DAILY COVER

"Alternative Daily Cover" means cover material other than earthen material placed on the surface of the active face of a Municipal Solid Waste landfill at the end of each operating day to control vectors, fires, odors, blowing litter, and scavenging.

F. ASSIGNMENT

"Assignment" means any dissolution, merger, consolidation, or other reorganization of Contractor, which results in change of control of Contractor, or the sale or other transfer of a controlling percentage of Contractor's capital stock to a person not a shareholder, immediate family member, management employee, or principal of Contractor or to an Affiliate on the date of the execution of this Agreement.

G. BIN

"Bin" means a container, with a capacity of at least one (1) cubic yard designed or intended to be mechanically dumped into a loader packer type truck.

H. BIOMASS CONVERSION FACILITY

"Biomass Conversion Facility" means any facility, including any intermediate staging area, processing biomass waste into energy, fuel, and other products.

I. BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

"Board of Supervisors" means the County of El Dorado Board of Supervisors. The County of El Dorado Board of Supervisors is the County of El Dorado's governing body, consisting of elected representatives from each of the County's five (5) districts.

J. BULKY WASTE / BULKY ITEMS

"Bulky Waste" or "Bulky Items" means large items of Solid Waste, such as appliances, furniture, large auto parts, White Goods, and other oversize wastes.

K. CALRECYCLE

"CalRecycle" means the California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery.

L. CAN

"Can" means a metal or plastic receptacle, with a lid and handles, capable of being Collected manually not to exceed forty-five (45) gallons in capacity.

M.CART

"Cart" means a heavy plastic receptacle with a rated capacity of at least twenty (20) gallons and not more than ninety-six (96) gallons, having a hinged tight-fitting lid, and two (2) wheels, that is approved by the County and is colored and labeled as designated by the County.

N. CHANGE IN CONTROL

"Change in Control" means any sale, transfer, or acquisition of Contractor.

O. COLLECT / COLLECTION

"Collect" or "Collection" means to pick-up, transport, and remove Solid Waste, Recyclables, Green Waste, Christmas trees, Bulky Items, E-Waste, Universal Waste, Used Oil, Used Oil Filters, and/or Construction and Demolition Debris.

P. COMMERCIAL SOLID WASTE

"Commercial Solid Waste" means all types of Solid Wastes generated by commercial, industrial, governmental, Multi-Family Units, and other non-residential sources within the Franchise Area. The term "Commercial Solid Waste" does not include Hazardous Wastes, Medical Wastes, and Special Wastes.

Q. COMMENCEMENT DATE

"Commencement Date" means the date when this Agreement is approved by the Board of Supervisors.

R. COMPACTOR

"Compactor" means any container which has compaction mechanisms whether stationary or mobile, used or unused, operable or inoperable, all inclusive.

S. COMPOSTABLE MATERIAL

"Compostable Material" means plant material (leaves, grass clippings, branches, brush, flowers, pine needles, pine cones, wood waste, etc.), debris commonly thrown away in the course of maintaining yards and gardens, and biodegradable waste otherwise approved for

Page 3 of 68

the Yard Waste program by Contractor and the County. It may also include pre-or postconsumer Food Waste, if Contractor begins a Food Waste Collection program within the County.

T. CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORS

"Conditionally Exempt Small Quantity Generator" (CESQG) means a Generator who generates one hundred (100) kilograms or less per month of Hazardous Waste or one (1) kilogram or less per month of acutely Hazardous Waste.

Requirements for CESQGs include: CESQGs must identify all the Hazardous Waste generated, may not accumulate more than one thousand (1,000) kilograms of Hazardous Waste at any time, and must ensure that Hazardous Waste is delivered to a person or facility that is authorized to manage it (Reference: Title 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 261.5).

U. CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION DEBRIS

"Construction and Demolition Debris" (C&D Debris) means Solid Waste Generated by or resulting from Projects within the County of El Dorado that require a building permit (excluding grading) (Reference: Ordinance Code 8.43).

C&D Debris includes components of the building or structure that is the subject of the construction work including, but not limited to: untreated lumber and untreated wood, gypsum wallboard, glass, metal, roofing material, tile, carpeting and floor coverings, window coverings, plastic pipe, concrete, fully cured asphalt, heating, ventilating, and air conditioning systems and their components, lighting fixtures, appliances, equipment, furnishings, and other fixtures; tools and building material consumed or partially consumed in the course of the construction work including material generated at construction trailers, such as blueprints, plans, and other similar wastes; cardboard and other packaging material derived from materials installed in or applied to the building or structure or from tools and equipment used in the course of the construction work. Construction refers to Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) Code sections 1500 through 1794, 1796, and 1799. Demolition refers to Standard Industrial Classification Code section 1795. (Reference: Title 14, California Code of Regulations, section 18720(a)(14).) The term "C&D Debris" also includes Recyclables generated by construction and demolition activities.

V. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATOR

The "Contract Administrator" for this Agreement means the County of El Dorado Community Development Agency Environmental Management Division Director or his/her designee.

W. CONTRACTOR

"Contractor" means Waste Connections of California, Inc., California Corporation, dba El Dorado Disposal and its current ownership. Contractor shall also mean any Countyapproved assignee, transferee, or successor in interest of Contractor.

X. COUNTY

"County" means the County of El Dorado.

Page 4 of 68

Y. COUNTY FACILITIES

"County Facilities" means any building, structure, yard, park, or any other facility owned, leased, or operated, by the County, or any subsidiary public entity of the County within the Franchise Area.

Z. DISPOSAL

"Disposal" means the final Processing and disposition of material Collected by Contractor under the terms of this Agreement.

AA. DIVERT / DIVERSION

"Divert" or "Diversion" means to make use of discarded material for any purpose and; therefore, to avoid Disposal of such material at a Landfill.

BB. EL DORADO COUNTY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN

"El Dorado County Solid Waste Management Plan" means the document adopted by the Board of Supervisors on January 31, 2012. The document consists of four (4) sections: Action Plan, Executive Summary, Detailed Strategies and Support, and Response to Public Comments.

CC. ELECTRONIC WASTE / E-WASTE

"Electronic Waste" or "E-Waste" means discarded electronic equipment such as stereos, radios, speakers, televisions, computers, monitors, VCRs, printers, copiers, facsimile machines, DVD players, microwaves, telephones, and similar items (including cathode ray tubes (CRTs) and other Universal Waste which may require special handling).

The Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC) has adopted regulations designating E-Wastes as Universal Wastes (Reference: Title 22, California Code of Regulations, chapter 23).

DD. FOOD WASTE

"Food Waste" means all animal and vegetable Solid Wastes generated by food facilities, as defined in California Health & Safety Code section 27521, or from residences, that result from the storage, preparation, cooking, or handling of food (Reference: Title 14, California Code of Regulations, section 18720).

EE. FOREST BIOMASS

"Forest Biomass" means vegetation from trees, brush, and other plants grown in forested areas.

FF. FORESTED LAND

"Forested Land" means areas in the County that require a Smoke Management Plan for agricultural and prescribed burning pursuant to the requirements of the California Air Resources Board and the County of El Dorado Air Quality Management District.

GG. FRANCHISE AREA

"Franchise Area" is defined in Exhibit A. The current boundaries of the Franchise Area are also shown by maps incorporated herein by reference, and on file in the office of the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors.

Page 5 of 68

HH. FRANCHISE FEE

"Franchise Fee" means the fee or assessment imposed by the County on Contractor solely because of its status as party to this Agreement, and which inter alia, is intended to compensate the County for its expenses in administering this Agreement, and to fund other waste management activities.

II. GENERATOR

"Generator" is a person, commercial business, or any other entity that produces Solid Waste, Recyclables, Green Waste, Bulky Items, Christmas trees, Universal Waste, E-Waste, Used Oil, Used Oil Filters, and/or C&D Debris.

JJ. GROUP COLLECTION AREA

"Group Collection Area" means a single location where multiple residential customers place Solid Waste, Recyclable Material, and Green Waste items for Collection. Solid Waste, Recyclable Material, and Green Waste item must be in containers to be Collected.

KK. GREEN WASTE / YARD WASTE

"Green Waste" or "Yard Waste" means any wastes generated from the maintenance or alteration of public, commercial, or residential landscapes including, but not limited to, yard clippings, leaves, tree trimmings, prunings, brush, and weeds (Reference: Title 14, California Code of Regulations, section 18720).

LL. HAZARDOUS WASTE OR MATERIALS

"Hazardous Waste or Materials" means any and all of the following:

- Wastes, materials, or substances defined or characterized as Hazardous Waste by the Federal Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended, including the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (Title 42 U.S. Code section 6901 et seq.) as amended from time to time, or regulations promulgated there under;
- Wastes, materials, or substances defined or characterized from time to time as Hazardous Waste by the principal agencies of the State of California (including, without limitation, the DTSC, CalRecycle, and EPA) having jurisdiction over Hazardous Waste generated by facilities within the State, and pursuant to any other applicable governmental regulations;
- Wastes, materials, or substances, the storage, treatment, transportation or Disposal of which is subject to regulation under the Toxic Substances Control Act; Title 15 U.S. Code sections 2601-2654, as amended from time to time, or regulations promulgated there under;
- Radioactive wastes, materials, substances, or items, the storage, treatment, transportation, or Disposal of which is subject to governmental regulations.

The term "Hazardous Waste" will be construed to have the broader, more encompassing definition where a conflict exists in the definitions employed by two (2)

Page 6 of 68

or more governmental entities having concurrent or overlapping jurisdiction over Hazardous Waste.

MM. HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE / HHW

"Household Hazardous Waste" or "HHW" means Hazardous Waste generated at Single-Family Units or Multi-Family Units.

NN. INDUSTRIAL SOLID WASTE

"Industrial Solid Waste" means all Solid Waste and semi-Solid Waste which results from industrial processes and manufacturing operations, except for Hazardous Wastes or Special Wastes.

00. LANDFILL / SOLID WASTE LANDFILL

"Landfill" or "Solid Waste Landfill" means a Disposal facility that accepts Solid Waste for land Disposal, but does not include a facility which receives only wastes generated by the facility owner or operator in the extraction, beneficiation, or Processing of ores and minerals, or a cemetery which disposes onsite only the grass clippings, floral wastes, or soil resulting from activities on the grounds of that cemetery (Reference: Public Records Code, section 40195.1).

PP. LARGE VENUE SPECIAL EVENT COLLECTION SERVICES

"Large Venue Special Event Collection Services" means Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclables, and other materials as appropriate at Large Venue Special Events.

QQ. MATERIAL RECOVERY FACILITY / MRF

"Material Recovery Facility" or "MRF" (also known as Western El Dorado Recovery Systems or WERS) means an intermediate Processing facility designed to remove Recyclables and other Reusable or Transformable materials from the Wastestream. A "dirty MRF" removes Reusable materials from trash. A "clean MRF" separates materials from commingled Recyclables, typically Collected from Residential or Commercial Solid Waste curbside programs.

RR. MATERIAL RECOVERY SERVICES

"Material Recovery Services" means the Processing of Solid Waste and Recyclable Material at permitted Material Recovery Facilities, and the subsequent recovery, reuse, Recycling, Repurposing, or other Diversion of such materials from Land-filling in such a manner that the County receives Diversion credit for such materials and activities by CalRecycle.

SS. MEDICAL WASTE / INFECTIOUS WASTE

"Medical Waste" or "Infectious Waste" means waste which may cause disease or reasonably be suspected of harboring pathogenic organisms, including source-separated Medical or Infectious Waste resulting from medical clinics, dental offices, research laboratories, pharmaceutical industries, blood banks, mortuaries, veterinary facilities, hospitals, and similar facilities Processing wastes which may include human or animal parts, contaminated bandages, pathological specimens, hypodermic needles, sharps, contaminated clothing, and surgical gloves (Reference: California Health & Safety Code sections 117690 and 118215 and et seq., especially section 25117.5).

Page 7 of 68

TT. MULTI-FAMILY UNIT

"Multi-Family Unit" means each individual living unit within a Multi-Family complex composed of five (5) or more individual residential units which receive communal refuse and/or Recycling services.

UU. OPERATING YEAR

"Operating Year" means the twelve (12) month period from July 1 to June 30 or any portion thereof, during the term of this Agreement. Contractor's rates for services shall be adjusted annually for each new Operating Year as described in Section 22 of this Agreement and as determined by the Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated Areas (Exhibit B).

VV. PERMANENT HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE COLLECTION FACILITY

"Permanent Household Hazardous Waste Collection Facility" or "PHHWCF" means a facility operated by a public agency or its contractor which: (a) is operated in accordance with section 67450.25; and (b) is permanently sited at a location (Reference: Title 22, California Code of Regulation, section 66260, Definitions).

WW. PRIOR AGREEMENTS

"Prior Agreements" means: (a) the Agreement between Contractor and the County dated August 23, 2004; and (b) other agreements with Contractor; and all subsequent modifications or amendments to any such agreements.

XX. PROCESS

To "Process" means the separation, sorting, handling, and/or baling of Solid Waste and/or Recyclable Material by automated or manual means at a Material Recovery Facility, for the purpose of Recycling a portion of these materials. Material that is received at a Material Recovery Facility and is directly loaded into a transfer vehicle for delivery to a Landfill for Disposal without the Recyclable Material being sorted, separated, handled, and/or baled; therefore, has not been "Processed" within the meaning of this definition.

YY. PROCESSING RESIDUES

"Processing Residues" means all material remaining after the Processing of Recyclables, Green Waste, Bulky Items, and C&D Debris, which cannot be Diverted from the Landfill.

ZZ. RECOVERED MATERIAL

"Recovered Material" means all Recyclable Material that is removed for Recycling by Contractor from the total tonnage of all Solid Waste Collected by Contractor in the Franchise Area, whether these materials are source separated or commingled upon Collection, and Recyclable Material recovered from Solid Waste generated within the Franchise Area as a result of Contractor's Material Recovery Services. Recovered Material shall also include Recyclable Material received by Contractor at any buy-back center, or by means of any other Recycling program operated by Contractor. All such Recyclable Material must be Recycled by Contractor to be considered "Recovered Material."

Page 8 of 68

AAA. RECYCLABLES / RECYCLABLE MATERIAL

"Recyclables" or "Recyclable Material" means materials which are reused, Recovered, Repurposed, or Processed (or are reused or Processed in the future) into a form suitable for reuse through reprocessing or remanufacture, and/or which qualify as Diversion from Land-filling consistent with the requirements of the California Integrated Waste Management Act and regulations thereunder. The terms "Recyclables" or "Recyclable Material" also include materials which are Transformed to produce fuel, Compostable Material, Recyclable C&D Debris, Alternative Daily Cover, materials Processed for land application including sludge, or as feed for livestock, provided all such uses and applications qualify as Diversion consistent with the requirements of the California Integrated Waste Management Act and regulations thereunder, and any other uses or applications that qualify as Diversion consistent with the requirements of the California Integrated Waste Management Act and regulations thereunder. The terms "Recyclables" or "Recyclable Material" include but are not limited to paper, newsprint, printed matter, pasteboard, paper containers, cardboard, glass, aluminum, polyethylene terephthalate (PET), high-density polyethylene (HDPE), beverage containers, Compostable Material, asphalt, concrete, brick, stone, Used Oil, Used Oil Filters, Electronic Waste, Universal Waste, and such other materials designated as Recyclables by CalRecycle, or any other agency with jurisdiction.

BBB. RECYCLE

"Recycle" means the Recovery, Repurposing, reuse, Transformation, or other Diversion of Recyclable Material from Land-filling in such a manner that the County receives Diversion credit for such materials and activities by CalRecycle.

CCC. REPURPOSING

"Repurposing" means the use of something for a purpose other than its original intended used. Repurposing an item can be done by modifying it to fit a new use, or by using the item as is in a new way with the intention of Diverting the item from a Landfill.

DDD. RESIDUAL

"Residual" means the Solid Waste destined for Disposal, further transfer/Processing as defined in Title 14, California Code of Regulations, section 17402(a)(30) or (31), or Transformation which remains after processing has taken place and is calculated in percent as the weight of residual divided by the total incoming weight of materials.

EEE. RESIDENTIAL SOLID WASTE

"Residential Solid Waste" means all types of Solid Waste that originates from Single-Family Units.

FFF. ROLL-OFF CONTAINERS

"Roll-Off Containers" means a container with a capacity of at least ten (10) cubic yards designed or intended to be mechanically hoisted onto a truck.

GGG. SELF-HAUL CUSTOMER

"Self-Haul Customer" means a generator of Solid Waste, Recyclables, Green Waste, Bulky Items, E-Waste, Universal Waste, Christmas trees, Used Oil, Used Oil Filters, and/or C&D Debris within the County's jurisdiction who delivers materials to a facility permitted to accept the material rather than by Collection by Contractor.

HHH. SINGLE-FAMILY UNIT

"Single-Family Unit" means a dwelling which receives individual refuse Collection service, but includes duplexes, or other complexes consisting of four (4) units or less, and all other living units that are not defined as Multi-Family Units or Commercial Solid Waste Generators.

III. SOLID WASTE / MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE / MSW

"Solid Waste", also known as "Municipal Solid Waste" or "MSW", means all putrescible and non-putrescible solid, semi-solid, and liquid wastes, including residential, commercial, and municipal garbage, trash, refuse, paper, rubbish, ashes, industrial wastes, C&D Debris, discarded home and industrial appliances, manure, vegetable or animal solid and semi-solid wastes, and other discarded Solid Wastes and semi-Solid Wastes, but specifically excludes Hazardous Wastes, Special Wastes, and Medical Wastes.

JJJ. SOLID WASTE RATE SETTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES MANUAL FOR UNINCORPORATED AREAS

"Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated Areas" means the step-by-step guide for the County of El Dorado, and its franchise haulers serving unincorporated areas, to prepare and approve changes to Solid Waste Collection rates. This manual establishes rate change policies, provides application forms, specifies reporting formats, identifies required supporting documentation, and describes the procedure for requesting, reviewing, and adopting rate changes.

KKK. SPECIAL WASTES

"Special Waste" means any Hazardous Waste listed in Title 22, California Code of Regulations, section 66740 or any waste which has been classified as a Special Waste pursuant to Title 22, California Code of Regulations, section 66744 or which has been granted a variance for the purpose of storage, transportation, treatment, or Disposal by the Department of Health Services pursuant to Title 22, California Code of Regulations, section 66310. Special Waste also includes any Solid Waste that, because of its source of generation, physical, chemical, or biological characteristics or unique Disposal practices, is specifically conditioned in a Solid Waste facilities permit for handling and/or Disposal (Reference: Title 14, California Code of Regulation, section 18720(a)(73)).

Some examples of Special Waste include, but are not limited to, ash, sewage sludge, industrial sludge, asbestos, auto shredder waste, auto bodies, and other Special Wastes like dead animals.

LLL. TRANSFORMATION

"Transformation" means incineration, pyrolysis, distillation, or biological conversion other than composting. The statutory definition of Transformation does not include composting, gasification, or biomass conversion (Reference: California Public Resources Code, section 40201).

MMM. TRANSFER STATION / PROCESSING STATION / STATION

"Transfer Station", "Processing Station", or "Station" includes those facilities utilized to receive Solid Waste, temporarily store, separate, and consolidate the materials or to transfer the Solid Wastes directly from smaller to larger vehicles for transport.

NNN. UNIVERSAL WASTE

"Universal Waste" means Hazardous Wastes that are widely produced by households and many different types of businesses. Universal Wastes include Electronic Waste such as televisions, computers and other electronic devices as well as batteries, fluorescent lamps, mercury thermostats, and other mercury containing equipment, among others. The Hazardous Waste regulations (Title 22, California Code of Regulations, section 66261.9) identify seven (7) categories of Hazardous Wastes that can be managed as Universal Wastes. Any unwanted item that falls within one (1) of these Wastestreams can be handled, transported, and Recycled following the simple requirements set forth in the Universal Waste regulations (UWR) (Title 22, California Code of Regulations, chapter 23).

000. USED OIL

"Used Oil" means any oil that has been refined from crude oil or has been synthetically produced and is no longer useful to the customer because of extended storage, spillage, or contamination with non-hazardous impurities such as dirt or water, or has been used and, as a result of such use, has been contaminated with physical or chemical impurities.

PPP. USED OIL COLLECTION SERVICE (RESIDENTIAL ONLY)

"Used Oil Collection Service" means the Collection of Used Oil and Used Oil Filters in Used Oil Containers and Used Oil Filter Containers respectively, by Contractor, from Residential Solid Waste customers in the Franchise Area who make an appointment and place the containers appropriately closed and labeled at the curbside.

QQQ. USED OIL CONTAINER (RESIDENTIAL ONLY)

"Used Oil Container" means a plain plastic container for the accumulation of Used Oil that is at least one (1) - gallon in capacity, leak-proof, has a screw-on lid, and has a label designating it for use as a Used Oil Container.

RRR. USED OIL FILTER (RESIDENTIAL ONLY)

"Used Oil Filter" means any oil filter that is no longer useful to the customer because of extended storage, spillage, or contamination with non-hazardous impurities such as dirt or water, or has been used and as a result of such use has been contaminated with physical or chemical impurities.

SSS. USED OIL FILTER CONTAINER (RESIDENTIAL ONLY)

"Used Oil Filter Container" means a container approved by Contractor and authorized by the County for the accumulation of Used Oil Filters that has a label designating it for use as a Used Oil Filter Container.

TTT. WASTESTREAM

"Wastestream" means all Solid Waste and Recyclable Materials Collected by Contractor pursuant to this Agreement or delivered by any person to the Material Recovery Facility.

Page 11 of 68

UUU. WHITE GOODS

"White Goods" means discarded household appliances such as washers, dryers, refrigerators, stoves, water heaters, freezers, small air conditioning units, and other similar items.

SECTION 2 - PRIOR AGREEMENTS

The Prior Agreements shall remain in effect, and Contractor shall continue to Collect, transfer, Process, Recycle, and Dispose of Solid Waste in the Franchise Area pursuant to the Prior Agreements, until the Commencement Date. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or of the Prior Agreements, upon the Commencement Date, the Prior Agreements shall expire and be of no further force or effect, except that:

- (1) Any provisions of the Prior Agreements which provide for either party to defend and/or indemnify the other party for acts, omissions or occurrences prior to the Commencement Date, or which provide for insurance or record-keeping duties, shall survive termination;
- (2) Any provisions of the Prior Agreements which expressly state that they shall survive expiration of the term or termination of the Prior Agreements shall survive; and
- (3) Any amounts owed by Contractor to the County pursuant to the Prior Agreements shall remain due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Prior Agreements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Prior Agreements shall not be terminated by this section if this Agreement is terminated as a result of litigation challenging the award of this Agreement.

SECTION 3 - GRANT AND ACCEPTANCE OF EXCLUSIVE RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL FRANCHISE

A. GRANT OF FRANCHISE

The County grants to Contractor, for the term of and in accordance with this Agreement (including all extensions or renewals), the exclusive privilege and contractual duty to make and enter into independent arrangements with residents of Single-Family Units, residents and/or owners of Multi-Family Units, and persons in charge of commercial, industrial, institutional, and other entities in the Franchise Area for the Collection, transportation, and removal to Solid Waste Processing and/or Disposal facilities, of all Residential, and Commercial Solid Waste (including Recyclable Material), which has been generated within the Franchise Area covered by this Agreement and placed for Collection. This grant of franchise is subject to all limitations imposed by applicable laws and regulations, and is subject to all limitations set forth in this Agreement. In addition, Contractor shall have an exclusive franchise to Collect C&D Debris except as provided in Section 3(C)(4) below.

B. ACCEPTANCE OF FRANCHISE

Contractor agrees to be bound by and comply with all the requirements of this Agreement.

Page 12 of 68

C. EXCEPTIONS TO EXCLUSIVITY

The exclusive franchise granted by this Agreement shall not apply where:

- (1) A person including employees (excluding a person who hires a third party for a fee) handles, hauls, or transports Solid Waste or Recyclables generated by or from his/her own residence or business operation for purposes of disposal at an authorized Processing or Disposal facility or Transfer Station, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this provision shall not in any way modify any mandatory Solid Waste ordinance or requirements; or
- (2) A person or entity contracts for landscaping, gardening, or similar work and where Contractor engaged therefore removes and Recycles or otherwise Disposes of garden and other Compostable Material resulting therefrom, provided that such removal and Recycling or Disposal is incidental to the landscaping or gardening work performed by Contractor performing those services and not as a hauler or Recycler; or
- (3) A person or entity has been given an exemption by the County from any mandatory Collection ordinance that the County may adopt in the future; or
- (4) A person or entity licensed to engage in construction and/or demolition work that is performing construction and/or demolition work on a premises pursuant to a valid construction permit that hauls away C&D Debris to a licensed Recycling or Disposal facility using its own employees and its own trucks. The above exception to this exclusive franchise agreement does not permit or allow a person or entity to hire or contract with another person or entity, whether as an agent or independent contractor, to pick-up, remove, haul, dispose of, or transport Solid Waste. Likewise, the rental of equipment wherein a driver/operator is furnished is not permitted and would be a violation of the exclusivity provision of this agreement. The use of rented equipment with hired equipment operators to pick-up, remove, haul, dispose of or transport solid waste is not permitted; and
- (5) Nothing in this Agreement shall require that Collection services be accepted by the State of California; any school district; or other state agency, or any other entity that is excluded by law from the obligation to subscribe to the Collection services set forth herein; and
- (6) A person or entity handles, hauls, transports, hires, or contracts with another person or entity to handle, haul, or transport, Forest Biomass generated in Forested Land for purposes of disposing same at an authorized Biomass Conversion Facility. This Agreement does not confer any exclusive rights to Contractor to handle, haul or transport Forest Biomass or operate a Biomass Conversion Facility and/or conduct biomass conversion operations.

D. SALE OR DONATION OF RECYCLABLES

This Agreement is not intended to and does not affect or limit the right of any person to sell any Recyclable Material to any person lawfully engaged in business in the Franchise Area or

Page 13 of 68

to donate Recyclable Material to any bona fide charity, provided that all such Recyclable Material is substantially separated from non-Recyclable Solid Waste by the Generator. Recyclables shall not be considered to have been sold or donated where the Generator of such materials incurs a net expense in connection with the removal of those materials from the Generator's premises.

E. FRANCHISE AREA

The Franchise Area covered by this Agreement shall be all areas, including, but not limited to, residential, commercial, and industrial areas within the boundaries of the County as they exist on the effective date of this Agreement, as identified in Exhibit A, (Franchise Area), to this Agreement, and as they may hereafter be changed by reason of annexation or deannexation.

F. RIGHTS RESERVED AS TO HAZARDOUS WASTES, MEDICAL WASTES, SPECIAL WASTES, AND FOREST BIOMASS

The County reserves the right to contract with other parties to have Hazardous, Medical, and Special Wastes, and Forest Biomass, Collected, transported, Disposed of, Processed and/or Diverted.

G. ENFORCEMENT OF EXCLUSIVITY OF FRANCHISE

Contractor may independently enforce the exclusivity provision of this Agreement against third party violators, including, but not limited to, seeking injunctive relief, and the County shall use good faith efforts to cooperate in such enforcement actions brought by Contractor. The County shall not be liable to Contractor in any manner, including any costs or damages such as lost revenues or lost profits, should any person or entity refuse to use Contractor's Solid Waste Collection services and/or performs Collection services in competition with Contractor, and in doing so violates the exclusive grant of franchise given to Contractor in this Agreement. In such event, Contractor's sole and exclusive remedy shall be to seek an injunction, damages, or other available judicial relief against any such third person or entity that engages in any conduct or activity which violates Contractor's exclusive franchise rights under this Agreement.

SECTION 4 - FRANCHISE FEES / OTHER COMPENSATION

A. FRANCHISE FEES

Contractor shall pay to the County a Franchise Fee set by the Board of Supervisors by Resolution, which shall be a percentage of the gross revenues derived by Contractor from operations pursuant to this Agreement. The Franchise Fee is initially set at five percent (5%) of Contractor's gross revenues, and from time to time may be adjusted by Resolution of the Board of Supervisors. The Franchise Fee shall be due and payable quarterly within forty-five (45) days following the end of each quarter for gross revenues received during that quarter. If payment is not received within said forty-five (45) day period, interest shall accrue thereon at the rate of fifteen percent (15%) per annum or at the maximum interest rate permitted under California law, whichever is lesser. The County shall give Contractor a minimum of ninety (90) days' notice of any changes to the Franchise Fee. Any increase in

Page 14 of 68

the Franchise Fee shall result in a corresponding rate adjustment to Contractor's rates and/or be passed through to Contractor's customers.

B. OTHER COMPENSATION

Contractor shall also Collect from its customers and pay to the County any surcharge set by the County to fund the County Solid Waste management activities, El Dorado County Solid Waste Management Plan implementation, AB 939 implementation programs, new regulatory requirements, and Landfill closure, post-closure, and remediation costs. This surcharge shall be treated for rate-setting purposes as a pass-through cost in the same manner as the Franchise Fee. Any change in such surcharge shall be due and payable quarterly within forty-five (45) days following the end of each quarter for gross revenues received during that quarter. If payment is not received within said forty-five (45) day period, interest shall accrue thereon at the rate of fifteen percent (15%) per annum or at the maximum interest rate permitted under California law, whichever is lesser. The County shall give Contractor a minimum of ninety (90) days' notice of any changes in such surcharge. Any increase in such surcharge shall result in a corresponding rate adjustment to Contractor's rates shall result in a corresponding rate adjustment to Contractor's rates shall result in a corresponding rate adjustment to Contractor's rates and/or be passed through to Contractor's customers.

Contractor shall continue to remit to the County on a quarterly basis the surcharge of \$2.70 a ton on all tons of Solid Waste exported from the WERS Materials Recovery Facility and Disposed of at an approved Solid Waste Landfill. This surcharge shall be paid by Contractor to the County within forty-five (45) days after the end of each calendar quarter. The County may increase this per ton fee, but only if such increase is compensated for by an increase in Contractor's rates hereunder.

Contractor shall receive, process, and where necessary, Dispose of Solid Waste and Recyclables Collected pursuant to the County's West Slope litter abatement program at the WERS MRF free of charge.

SECTION 5 - COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

A. COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL LAWS

Contractor warrants that it will comply with all applicable federal and state laws legally binding on Contractor in effect during the term of this Agreement, including implementing regulations, as they may, from time to time, be amended, specifically including, but not limited to, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act ("CERCLA"); Title 42 U.S. Code section 9601 et seq.; AB 939, and all other applicable laws of the State of California. Moreover, Contractor shall comply with all local laws and regulations applicable to Contractor to the extent they are not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. Contractor shall comply with all final and binding judgments entered against Contractor regarding its services performed under this Agreement.

B. NONDISCRIMINATION

Contractor hereby agrees to abide by all federal, state, and local laws and regulations pertaining to discrimination in employment including that no person shall, on the grounds

Page 15 of 68

of race, creed, color, disability, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, age, religion, political affiliations, or any other non-merit based factors, be subject to discrimination under this Agreement.

SECTION 6 - SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLABLE COLLECTION SERVICES

A. COUNTY TO APPROVE ALL SERVICES

- (1) The nature of the services Contractor offers and provides to customers residing or doing business in the Franchise Area shall be determined by the Board of Supervisors. The Board of Supervisors may require Contractor to change the level of such services from time to time on reasonable notice to Contractor. The Board of Supervisors may also require Contractor to change the level of service to implement the El Dorado County Solid Waste Management Plan. The Board of Supervisors shall adjust Contractor's rates to reflect Contractor's documented increased and reasonable costs caused by the change in service levels. The services that Contractor offers and provides to its customers affected by this Agreement shall be subject to the prior approval of the Board of Supervisors or its designee. Nothing in this Agreement, however, shall be construed or interpreted as authorizing the County to reduce or adversely affect Contractor's exclusive franchise rights as specified in Section 3 of this Agreement.
- (2) Before initiating new Recycling or Biomass Conversion programs or activities ("programs") within the Franchise Area, Contractor shall seek and obtain the express approval of the County. In seeking the County's approval for such new programs, Contractor shall provide the County with a detailed description of the proposed program, as well as a projection of costs, if any, and revenues associated with the program, and the anticipated level of Diversion to be achieved by such program.
- (3) New services will be implemented in accordance with the Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated Areas (Exhibit B).

B. INITIAL SERVICE LEVELS / EXPANDED SERVICES

Contractor shall perform all education, outreach, monitoring, and reporting for all Commercial Solid Waste and Multi-Family properties as required by AB 939 and AB 341 and under the direction of the County. These activities shall include educating Commercial Solid Waste and Multi-Family customers regarding the mandatory Recycling requirements of AB 341, and notifying non-compliant Commercial Solid Waste and Multi-Family customers at least semi-annually.

Contractor shall identify, educate, and monitor all Commercial and Multi-Family customers required to be in compliance with AB341, and, shall implement a Recycling program(s) that supports and educates the public about State requirements and the County's Solid Waste Management Plan. Contractor shall ensure that on-line and print materials related to Commercial Solid Waste and Multi-Family customers contain up to date information pertaining to AB341 or other mandatory requirements.

Page 16 of 68

C. ONCE A WEEK SERVICE

In order to protect the public health and safety, and in accordance with County Ordinance Chapter 8.42, arrangements made by Contractor with its customers in the Franchise Area for the Collection of Solid Waste not defined in the Agreement as Recyclable Materials, shall provide for the Collection of such waste generated or accumulated in residential, commercial, and industrial premises within the Franchise Area at least once per week, or more frequently, as Contractor and its customers may agree.

- (1) Single-Family Units: Contractor shall Collect from Single-Family Units, not less than once per week, MSW (except Bulky Wastes and Special Wastes) which have been properly placed, kept or accumulated in authorized Solid Waste containers, at curbside or other authorized Collection station(s) prior to Contractor's normal weekly Collection time. Recyclables and Green Waste, if applicable, will be Collected in a manner and frequency on a schedule approved by the County.
- (2) Multi-Family Units: Contractor shall empty all Multi-Family Units authorized Solid Waste containers not less than once per week, and more frequently if required to handle the Multi-Family Unit Wastestream of the premises where the containers are located, in a manner consistent with public health and safety. Multi-Family Units will maintain adequate Solid Waste container capacity for pick-up services. Recyclables and Yard Waste, if applicable, will be Collected in a manner and frequency on a schedule approved by the County.

Contractor shall visit each Multi-Family Unit customer at least once every two (2) years during the term of this Agreement to perform a site waste assessment. As part of the assessment, Contractor shall meet with the customer to review level of service and to discuss Diversion opportunities. The results of each visit shall be documented and provided to the customer and reported monthly to the County.

(3) Commercial Solid Waste Customers: Not less than once per week, Contractor shall Collect from Commercial Solid Waste Customers, MSW (except Bulky Wastes and Special Wastes) which have been properly placed, kept or accumulated in authorized Solid Waste containers, at the authorized Collection point(s) prior to Contractor's normal weekly Collection time. Recyclables and Green Waste, if applicable, will be Collected in a manner and frequency on a schedule approved by the County.

Contractor shall visit each Commercial Solid Waste customer at least once every three (3) years during the term of this Agreement. Contractor shall meet with the property manager or business owner to review level of service, discuss Diversion opportunities, and offer to perform a site waste assessment. The results of each visit shall be documented and provided to the customer and reported monthly to the County.

D. BIWEEKLY SERVICE

(1) Recyclable Material: Contractor shall Collect residential Recyclable Materials which have been properly placed, kept, or accumulated in an authorized container at curbside or other authorized Collection station, biweekly.

Page 17 of 68

(2) Green Waste: Contractor shall Collect residential Green Wastes which have been properly placed, kept, or accumulated in an authorized container at curbside or other authorized Collection station, biweekly.

E. HOURS OF COLLECTION

Residential Collection services shall be provided commencing no earlier than 5:00 am and terminating no later than 7:00 pm Monday through Saturday with no service on Sunday. The hours, days, or both of Collection may be temporarily extended due to extraordinary circumstances or conditions with the prior consent of the Contract Administrator.

Commercial Collection services shall be provided, commencing no earlier than 4:00 am, and terminating no later than 7:00 pm. The hours, days, or both of Collection may be temporarily extended due to extraordinary circumstances or conditions with the prior consent of the Contract Administrator.

Contractor agrees to reasonably adjust the hours of commencement of Collection operations in selected areas at the request of the County where early Collection activities have generated numerous complaints from nearby residents.

F. MANNER OF COLLECTION

Contractor shall provide Collection services with as little disturbance as possible and shall leave any Can, Cart, or Bin in an upright position at the same point it was Collected, without obstructing alleys, roadways, driveways, sidewalks, or mail boxes.

G. SERVICE ON COUNTY AND NON-COUNTY MAINTAINED ROADS

Contractor shall be required to provide MSW Collection service to all customers on county maintained roads. Contractor shall further provide service to customers on all non-county maintained roads, except as otherwise provided herein. Contractor shall provide smaller Collection trucks to provide Collection services on non-county maintained roads in instances where such roads are not reasonably usable by Contractor's regular Collection vehicles.

In the event any non-county maintained road is, in Contractor's reasonable judgment, unsafe or in such a state of disrepair that the road will be either hazardous or potentially cause damage to even the smaller sized vehicles of Contractor, Contractor shall meet and confer in good faith with the customers located on such non-county maintained road to have the condition of such non-county maintained road resolved so that smaller sized vehicles of Contractor may be able to provide MSW Collection to the customers on such road. If the parties are still unable to come to a mutually agreeable resolution regarding the condition of such road after meeting and conferring with each other, Contractor shall work with such customers to create a Group Collection Area, to meet such customers' MSW Collection service needs. If the parties cannot agree on a Group Collection Area, Contractor shall not be required to provide MSW Collection service to such customers on said road, and such customers shall be allowed to self-haul their own Solid Waste and Recyclable Materials to an appropriate Disposal or Processing facility.

Contractor may request that customers on non-county maintained roads sign a waiver and indemnification agreement, prior to receiving service from Contractor, and Contractor may refuse to provide service to any such customers that fail to sign such waiver and indemnification, but Contractor shall provide service to those customers that do sign such a waiver and indemnification.

H. EXTREME SNOW EVENTS

During extreme snow events, Contractor may utilize delayed starts to provide Collection service as feasible, given snow removal operations, weather, and road conditions throughout the area. Contractor will make every effort to complete Collection routes as scheduled. Contractor shall attempt to service missed routes the next day, including Saturday. If MSW cannot be picked up on the next day due to unsafe conditions, missed routes will then be serviced on the next scheduled service day with no charge for extra material. Contractor will utilize phone system and its website to notify customers of delays in service and service options.

Contractor shall allow for a subscribing customer to Self-Haul their weekly curbside Solid Waste to the MRF with voucher approval from Contractor, which can be completed through e-mail of the voucher, in person at the office or through the mail.

I. ON-CALL

In addition to all other regularly scheduled Collection services provided by Contractor herein, Contractor shall provide on-call Collection services to Residential Solid Waste, Commercial Solid Waste, and Multi-Family Unit customers, at those rates set forth in the "Approved Rates and Charges" document (Exhibit C) attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. This on-call service is designed to cover seasonal or temporary Bins, Cans, Cart(s), and Roll-Off Containers, or Bulky Waste pick-up as needed by Residential Solid Waste, Commercial Solid Waste, and Multi-Family Unit customers. Such customers shall request on-call service from Contractor and Contractor shall provide such additional Bins, Cans, Cart(s), and/or Roll-Off Containers, and/or additional Collections as requested by the customer within a time frame as set by Contractor.

J. COLLECTION ON HOLIDAYS

Contractor has informed the County that Contractor's arrangements with its Solid Waste customers will provide that if the day of Collection on any given route falls on a legal holiday, i.e., New Year's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day Thanksgiving Day, or Christmas Day. Contractor may provide Collection service for each route on the holiday day or on the day before or after the holiday with advanced notification to the customer.

K. CHRISTMAS TREE COLLECTION

Contractor agrees to Collect bare Christmas trees at no additional charge to customers receiving Residential Solid Waste service providing trees are cut to no more than three (3) feet in length and bundled for the month of January, on Green Waste Collection days.

L. BULKY WASTE / BULKY ITEM PICK-UP AND BULKY WASTE / BULKY ITEM VOUCHERS

Contractor shall provide Bulky Waste / Bulky Item pick-up for all customers within the Franchise Area, as described in Exhibit A, on an "on-call" basis, by appointment set between the customer and Contractor. Bulky Waste / Bulky Item need not be placed in special containers for Collection.

- (1) Contractor shall pick-up all Bulky Waste / Bulky Items left for Collection at curbside by the customer for an additional per item charge, subject to size and weight limitations.
- (2) Contractor will provide one (1) curbside Bulky Waste / Bulky Item pick-up voucher, on an annual basis per customer (including each customer at Multi-Family Units) at no additional charge, which will be scheduled by Contractor in conjunction with other Bulky Waste / Bulky Item pick-ups. In addition, customer may use the Bulky Waste / Bulky Item voucher for curbside pickup of up to two and one half (2.5) cubic yards of Green Waste or Electronic Waste / E-Waste in lieu of Bulky Waste / Bulky Item.
- (3) Contractor will provide one (1) voucher, on an annual basis, per customer at no additional charge, allowing the customer to dispose up to two and one half (2.5) cubic yards of unsorted Solid Waste (or an equivalent value for Disposal of other items) at the WERS MRF.

The form and conditions of the voucher shall be approved in advance by the County. Contractor shall send these vouchers to its Residential Solid Waste customers each year. Contractor will mail calendars, bulky curbside, and MRF vouchers separately from customer invoices. In addition, Contractor will offer to all customers the ability to get the calendars, and vouchers electronically.

M. GREEN WASTE

In addition to the Bulky Waste pickup, Contractor will provide a spring and fall curbside Green Waste special pickup.

Contractor will provide one (1) voucher, on an annual basis, per customer, at no additional charge, allowing the customer to Dispose up to two and one half (2.5) cubic yards of Green Waste at the WERS MRF.

N. COMMUNITY CLEAN-UP EVENTS

Throughout the term, Contractor shall provide, in addition to regularly scheduled service, four (4) clean-up events each calendar year strategically located in the unincorporated areas of the County, pursuant to guidelines established by Contractor and approved by the County for the disposal of Solid Waste and Recyclables by Single-Family Units and Multi-Family Units. The date for each event shall be proposed by Contractor and approved by the County.

Throughout the term, Contractor shall provide one (1) Green Waste specific community event.

Page 20 of 68

O. LARGE VENUE SPECIAL EVENT COLLECTION SERVICES

Contractor shall provide for the Collection, transportation and Processing or Disposal of Solid Waste and Recyclables at Large Venue Special Events each calendar year as requested by the County and/or event coordinator. Contractor shall provide each Large Venue Special Event customer with such number of Solid Waste Bins or Roll-Off Containers as requested and the equivalent volume of Recyclables containers.

Prior to providing these services at an event, Contractor will meet with the event coordinator to determine the best way to maximize Diversion at the event. At event coordinators request, Contractor shall provide effective means to differentiate Solid Waste from Recyclables containers including signs, magnets, banners, or other methods. In the event Contractor or the event coordinator determines that material in the Recyclables receptacles is contaminated to the extent that it should not be emptied into the Recyclables Roll-Off Containers or Bins provided by Contractor, the contaminated Recyclables shall be treated as Solid Waste and Processed at a MRF to retrieve Recyclables. Contractor shall use its best judgment to determine when the Bins are to be emptied, except that Bins shall be emptied prior to overflowing or when in the opinion of the event coordinator they are creating a public nuisance. Services may be charged or free of charge to be determined by Contractor.

P. USED OIL / USED OIL FILTER COLLECTION

Curbside Collection of Used Oil and Used Oil Filters are included in this Agreement, for Residential Solid Waste customers only. Used Oil will be required to be placed in Used Oil Containers, clearly labeled as containing motor oil, approved by Contractor, to be eligible for pick-up. Pick-up needs to be scheduled with Contractor's office. Used Oil Filters will be required to be placed in Used Oil Filter Containers, clearly labeled as containing Used Oil Filter(s), approved by Contractor, to be eligible for pick-up. Pick-up needs to be scheduled with Contractor's office. Contractor will not be required to pick-up more than five (5) one (1) gallon containers of Used Oil, or more than five (5) oil filters at any single household at any one time. Brake fluid, transmission fluid, hydraulic fluid, gasoline, diesel, and any other petroleum-based liquid or mixtures of different liquids are not covered by this Agreement. The County and Contractor acknowledge that costs associated with Recycling Used Oil and Used Oil Filters will be the responsibility of Contractor.

In consideration of this service, the County represents that there exists grant funding relating to Used Oil and Used Oil Filter Collection and Recycling. The County will make best attempts to secure such funding so that a portion of the funding may be made available to Contractor to help offset costs.

Q. BATTERIES

Curbside Collection of batteries is included in this agreement for Residential Solid Waste customers only. Batteries (excluding automotive batteries) will be required to be placed in approved containers provided by Contractor, clearly labeled as containing batteries, to be eligible for pick-up.

R. CURBSIDE VOUCHER FOR HOUSEHOLD PAINT AND FLUORESCENT TUBES / BULBS

Contractor will provide one curbside pick-up voucher for Household Paint, Fluorescent Tubes / Bulbs, and Electronic Waste / E-Waste on an annual basis per customer at no additional charge.

S. MEDICAL, HAZARDOUS, SPECIAL, AND UNIVERSAL WASTES

Contractor shall have the non-exclusive right under this Agreement, but is not obligated to, Collect, transport and Dispose of material defined as Hazardous Waste, Special Waste, and Universal Waste herein. Contractor shall negotiate separate contracts and rates for Hazardous, Special, and Universal Waste Collection with each individual customer, which rates shall not require advance the County approval, but may be reviewed by the County in its discretion at the request of any customer. Contractor shall not engage in the Collection of Medical Waste and radioactive waste; however, Contractor's principals may form a separate and independent company to engage in the Collection and Disposal of Medical Waste. The County reserves the right to franchise other parties to perform Medical, Hazardous, Special, and Universal Waste handling services.

T. UNSECURED LOAD FEE

Ordinance Code 8.42.780 "Load Covering Required During Transportation" states that no person, franchisee, or permittee shall transport Solid Waste and/or Recyclable Material within the County unless the vehicle load is covered in such a way so as to prevent waste or Recyclable Material from blowing or falling from the load. In order to ensure that the public is adhering to the ordinance, EDD will impose an unsecure fee of twenty-five percent (25%) of the rate for the load that is being brought into the WERS facility unsecured.

U. SPILLAGE AND LITTER

Contractor shall not litter premises in the process of providing Collection services or while its vehicles are on the road. Contractor shall transport all materials Collected under the terms of this Agreement in such a manner as to prevent the spilling or blowing of such materials from vehicles. Contractor shall exercise all reasonable care and diligence in providing Collection services so as to prevent spilling or dropping of Solid Waste, Recyclables, Green Waste, Bulky Items, Universal Waste, E-Waste, Used Oil, Used Oil Filters, and C&D Debris and shall immediately, at the time of occurrence, clean up such spilled or dropped materials.

V. PICK-UP OF ILLEGALLY DISPOSED WASTE

Contractor shall, at the written request of the County, pick-up, Dispose of, or Recycle, as appropriate, illegally disposed waste within the Franchise Area. Contractor may schedule such pick-ups concurrent with Contractor's Bulky Waste pick-ups, but no less often than once per week when requested by the County. If the County desires to replace its current litter abatement crews with Contractor-provided labor, then the County and Contractor shall negotiate mutually agreeable pricing terms for such services and shall adjust the rates set forth in this Agreement accordingly. This section is not intended to replace the County's current litter abatement program.

W. CONTAINERS

(1) Purchase and Distribution of Carts, Bins, and Roll-Off Containers: Contractor shall Collect Solid Waste from the three (3) different thirty-five (35) (for Solid Waste only), sixty-four (64) and ninety-six (96) gallon Contractor provided Cart(s), as requested by the customer and placed for Collection by the customer, not less than once per week. Contractor shall Collect Recyclables from the sixty-four (64) or ninety-six (96) gallon Contractor provided Cart(s), as requested by the customer and placed for Collection by the customer and placed for Collection by the customer, not less than once every two (2) weeks. Contractor shall Collect Yard Waste from the ninety-six (96) gallon Contractor provided Cart(s), as requested by the customer and placed for Collection by the customer, not less than once every two (2) weeks. Contractor shall Collect Yard Waste from the ninety-six (96) gallon Contractor provided Cart(s), as requested by the customer and placed for Collection by the customer, not less than once every two (2) weeks. At the customer's request, Contractor shall provide to each customer, and at no additional charge to such customer, one (1) additional Cart for the Collection of either Yard Waste (only ninety-six (96) gallon Carts available) or Recyclables (either sixty-four (64) or ninety-six (96) gallon Carts available).

Exceptions to Carts are only for Recyclables and Green Waste. Exceptions to the use of Contractor provided Carts will occur only under the following conditions. Only Customers serviced in Group Collection Areas may use:

- (a) Contractor provided thirty-two (32) gallon 'blue bags' for Recyclable Material. Contractor Customer Service Department and the customer shall determine an appropriate number of blue bags for each customer requesting to continue use of thirty-two (32) gallon 'blue bags' and Contractor shall provide determined number of thirty-two (32) gallon 'blue bags' when providing bi-weekly Recycle service.
- (b) Group Collection Area customers may use a maximum number of three (3) customer provided lawn/leaf bags for Green Waste, to be serviced bi-weekly at time of provided Green Waste service.
- (c) Thirty-five (35) gallon Recycle Cart(s) and sixty-four (64) gallon Yard Waste Cart(s) will be provided on an exception basis for Group Collection Area customers or where a customer needs a smaller option for safety related conditions.
- (d) When curbside service is available, the exemptions per this section for Recycling and/or Green Waste will be discontinued and standard three (3) Cart program will be implemented.

Contractor shall be responsible for the purchase and distribution of fully assembled and functional new Carts, new or well-maintained Bins, and new or well-maintained Roll-Off Containers as required to customers in the Franchise Area. Contractor shall also distribute Carts, Bins and Roll-Off Containers as required to new customers that are added to the Franchise Area during the term of this Agreement. The distribution shall be completed within ten (10) work days of receipt of notification.

(2) Replacement of Carts and Bins: Contractor's employees shall take care to prevent damage to Carts or Bins by unnecessary rough treatment. However, any Cart or Bin

Page 23 of 68

damaged by Contractor shall be replaced by Contractor, at Contractor's expense, within ten (10) work days at no cost or inconvenience to the customer.

Upon notification that Carts or Bins are faulty, have worn out, or have been stolen or damaged beyond repair through no fault of the customer, Contractor shall deliver a replacement Carts or Bins to such customer within ten (10) work days.

- (3) Repair and Exchange of Carts, Bins, and Roll-Off Containers:
 - (a) Repair of Carts: Contractor shall be responsible for repair of Carts in the areas to include but not be limited to, hinged lids, wheels, and axles. Within ten (10) work days after notification of the need for such repairs, Contractor shall repair the Cart or, if necessary, remove the Cart for repairs and deliver a replacement Cart to the customer.
 - (b) Repair of Bins and Roll-Off Containers: Contractor will repair and otherwise maintain or replace Bins and Roll-Off Containers so that they are functional, and, as appropriate, have lids, at no inconvenience to the customer.
 - (c) Cart or Bin Exchange: Upon notification to Contractor that a change in the size or number of Cart(s) or Bin(s) is required, Contractor shall deliver such Cart(s) or Bin(s) to such customer within ten (10) work days. Cart(s) or Bin(s) will not be exchanged more than once per year for reasons other than repair or service level changes.
- (4) Bin and Container Signage, Painting, and Cleaning: All Bins and containers of any service type (excluding Carts) furnished by Contractor shall display Contractor's name, Contractor's toll-free customer service telephone number, and shall be kept free of graffiti and in a clean and sanitary condition.

Bins and Roll-Off Containers provided by Contractor shall be cleaned by Contractor as frequently as necessary to maintain them in a sanitary condition. Upon receipt of notification by Contractor of graffiti on a Bin or container, Contractor shall clean or replace such Bin or container within ten (10) work days. Bin(s) and containers will be subject to periodic, unscheduled inspections by the County and determination as to sanitary condition shall be made by the County.

- (5) Organic Waste Containers: In the event the County and Contractor agree to offer residential compostable food material Collection service, the Collection container must be approved by Contractor and the County.
- (6) Compostable Material Containers: In the event the County and Contractor agree to offer Commercial Compostable Material Collection services, and if requested by the commercial customer, Contractor shall provide commercial customers receiving Commercial Compostable Material Collection services with a sealed container storage of Compostable Material prior to placing the waste in the Compostable Material Cart or Bin. The size of the container shall be determined by the customer and Contractor. Contractor shall be responsible for the repair and maintenance of the containers. Commercial customers may use contractor approved compostable bags for the containment of Food Waste.

Page 24 of 68

X. INSPECTIONS

The County shall have the right to inspect Contractor's facilities or Collection vehicles used in the provision of Collection services under this Agreement and their contents at any time while operating inside or outside the Franchise Area.

Y. WASTE GENERATION AND CHARACTERIZATION STUDIES

Contractor agrees to participate and cooperate with the County and its agents in all Solid Waste generation and characterization studies conducted no more frequently than once each Agreement Year, at no cost to the County, including modification of routes, separate Collection of an individual customer's Solid Waste, and delivering targeted loads of Solid Waste to a location or locations designated by the County.

Z. SITE WASTE ASSESSMENT

Within six (6) months of commencement of service to a new Multi-Family Unit or commercial customer in the Franchise Area, Contractor will conduct a waste generation and characterization assessment of such Multi-Family Unit or commercial customer to identify customer's potential to Recycle and Divert the customer's Solid Waste. The assessments shall be performed in accordance with the protocol developed by Contractor and approved by the County which protocol shall be developed and provided to the County as part of the implementation plan.

AA. SUSTAINABILITY COORDINATOR

Contractor shall provide a Sustainability coordinator whose time shall be dedicated to the residents and businesses throughout the County, covered under this contract during the term of the Agreement and whose function shall be to provide services related to meeting the Diversion requirements of the Agreement.

BB. PARTICIPATION IN ADVISORY COMMITTEES

Contractor will regularly participate in activities of the El Dorado Solid Waste Advisory Committee (EDSWAC), including the following: attending meetings, helping develop media campaigns, and contributing to subcommittee activities.

CC. SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN GOAL IMPLEMENTATION

On March 1, 2015 and annually thereafter during the term of this Agreement Contractor will provide the County with a strategic plan with specific programs goals and objectives to increase Diversion rates consistent with the El Dorado County Solid Waste Management Plan. The plan should be based on the results of the prior year's activities and include a discussion of that year's programs, including strengths and weaknesses.

DD. PROCUREMENT POLICY

- (1) Supplies: Contractor will use reasonable business effort to purchase office supplies and all paper products with post-consumer Recycled content.
- (2) Paper: Contractor will use paper, having not less than thirty percent (30%) Recycled paper content, and ten percent (10%) post-consumer Recycled paper content, for all correspondence with customers (including customer subscriptions, billing, newsletters, and notices) and the County.

Page 25 of 68

(3) Recycled Content Policies: Contractor will use reasonable business efforts to comply with any Recycled content procurement policy that the County may adopt.

EE. EMERGENCY SERVICES

In the event of a "Declared Emergency", the Contract Administrator may grant Contractor a variance from regular routes and schedules. As soon as practicable after such event, Contractor shall advise the Contract Administrator when it is anticipated that normal routes and schedules can be resumed. In addition, Contractor shall make every effort to notify customers when regular services will resume via a phone call or e-mail notification. The Contract Administrator shall, through the local news media, inform the public when regular services may be resumed.

(1) Emergency Service Compensation: Contractor shall provide emergency services (i.e., special Collections, transport, Processing, and Disposal) at the County's request in the event of major accidents, disruptions, or natural calamities. Contractor shall be capable of providing emergency services within twenty-four (24) hours of notification by the County or as soon thereafter as is reasonably practical in light of the circumstances.

Emergency services requested in writing by an authorized the County official which exceed the scope of work under this Agreement and which are not compensated as special services in accordance with Exhibit C (Approved Rates and Charges), or through reimbursement by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) shall be compensated through extraordinary rate review procedures as set forth in this Agreement.

(2) Reporting: Contractor will cooperate with the Federal, State of California, and County agencies in filing information related to a federal, state, or regional declared state of emergency or disaster as to which Contractor has provided Collection services under this Section.

FF. NON-COLLECTION DUE TO NON-PAYMENT

Service may, at Contractor's option, be withheld during any period in which payment for prior service remain delinquent, such payment becoming delinquent forty-five (45) days after the end of each full month for which services have been rendered. Contractor shall notify the customer in writing fifteen (15) days before stopping service and the notice will include the amount and time covered by all unpaid services by Contractor. In the event that mandatory service Collection areas are established within the Franchise Area, Contractor shall provide mandatory Collection service in accordance with the County's mandatory Collection ordinance (Ordinance Code 8.42).

GG. CHARGES / NON-COLLECTION FOR EXCESS SOLID WASTE

Any excess Solid Waste (more than one (1) additional thirty-two (32) gallon bag (or bag equivalent)) that does not fit within the closed lid of the authorized Solid Waste container shall be deemed excess material and shall be subject to the excess charges. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor shall not be required to Collect Solid Waste from an authorized

Page 26 of 68

Solid Waste container where the total weight of the container and contents exceed the limit posted on the container.

SECTION 7 - MATERIALS RECOVERY SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED BY CONTRACTOR

A. SELF-HAUL OPERATIONS

The MRF will provide separate commercial truck, and self-haul tipping areas. The MRF will separate commercial truck and transfer truck traffic from Self-Haul Customers for safety reasons. The self-haul tipping area will accommodate eight (8) to ten (10) vehicles tipping at a time, with eight (8) to ten (10) separate indoor unloading lanes. The entrance and queuing areas will include sufficient space to allow vehicle queuing on busy days and for efficient vehicle circulation. The facility also will accommodate overflow traffic on busy weekends.

To help increase Self-Haul Customer diversion, the MRF will have drop-off areas strategically located to promote pre-sorting. Additionally, Contractor shall educate Self-Haul Customers on waste reduction, Recycling, and presorting material, and Contractor will implement tipping fees that clearly differentiate between Recyclable loads and non-Recyclable loads.

B. GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND COMPENSATION

Contractor shall provide all Processing, Recycling, and Material Recovery Services described in this Agreement. Contractor's compensation for these services for Solid Waste and Recyclable Materials brought to the WERS MRF in Contractor's Collection vehicles shall be included in Contractor's Collection rates approved by the County. Contractor's compensation for these services for Solid Waste and Recyclable Materials brought to the WERS MRF by members of the public or other private third parties in their own vehicles shall be as set forth in the "Gate Rates" for the WERS MRF. The initial Gates Rates for such public or private third party loads are set forth in Exhibit C (Proposed Draft Residential and Commercial Rates and Charges) attached hereto and subject to the El Dorado County Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated Areas.

C. MATERIAL RECOVERY FACILITY / WERS

Contractor shall, at its sole cost and expense, provide all management, supervision, personnel, materials, equipment, utilities, services, and supplies necessary to operate, maintain and repair the Western El Dorado Recovery Systems (WERS) facility in a manner consistent with good engineering, operational, and maintenance practices and with industry standards, in order to receive, transfer and/or Process Solid Waste brought to the MRF by Contractor, the public, and others, and to Divert from Landfilling and to Recycle Recyclable Materials contained in such Solid Waste, to the extent practicable, and in accordance with its reasonable business judgment, provided that the Diversion requirements of this Agreement are being met.

Contractor shall receive Solid Waste from the public at the WERS MRF during the following days and hours: Monday through Sunday, 8 am to 5pm, except for Christmas Day and New

Page 27 of 68

Year's Day, which shall be deemed "Authorized MRF Holidays." In addition the WERS MRF will be closed early (i.e., at 2:00 pm) on the following days: Christmas Eve, New Year's Eve, Easter Sunday, July 4th and Thanksgiving, unless directed by the County, to remain open. Signage and residential calendar will be maintained to reflect MRF days and hours of operation.

Contractor shall install, maintain, and operate video monitoring cameras at the WERS MRF, the number and locations of which shall be approved by the County, and shall provide the County, at no extra cost to the County, with real time online access to the video monitoring output of each camera.

D. SINGLE STREAM MATERIAL RECOVERY FACILITY

This section is not applicable at the time of contract execution; however, in the event the County and Contractor agree to this operational change to the MRF, the contract will be amended to reflect the new operational change.

E. MATERIAL RECOVERY FACILITY

Where applicable, Contractor may also Collect and transport commingled, "single stream" Recyclable Materials generated by Single-Family Units, Multi-Family Units, and certain Commercial and industrial customers in Contractor's Franchise Area, which are set out by such customers for Collection by Contractor, to certified Recycler for further processing of these commingled Recyclable Materials. Contractor shall at its sole cost and expense provide all transportation of Recyclable Materials to the facility. The parties acknowledge that a certain limited amount of residual Solid Waste will invariably be mixed in with Recyclable Materials and that these residuals may be Landfilled. Contractor gives the County written notice of Contractor's proposed use of the alternative facility and further provided that Contractor shall not be entitled to any increase in the rates for its services by reason of Contractor's use of such alternative facility.

F. PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

The following objective performance criteria shall also apply to the MRF facilities that are used by Contractor to process Recyclable Materials under this Agreement. These criteria shall be evaluated on an annual basis, and are to be considered in an integrated fashion (i.e. combining the Recycling efforts conducted at various facilities, rather than on a facility-by-facility basis), in order to allow Contractor the flexibility to manage Recycling efforts in the most efficient and effective manner.

(1) To the extent applicable, Processing by such MRF facilities of the aggregate of all source separated "single stream" Recyclable Materials (including, but not limited to, Recyclable Materials Collected pursuant to this Agreement) shall not result in a residual amount of non-Recyclable Solid Waste that exceeds 5% by weight, measured quarterly on a facility wide basis. Contractor shall, or shall cause the MRF facilities to, conduct quarterly content analyses of the "single stream" Recyclable Materials Collected pursuant to this Agreement and report the results of such analyses to the County. Contractor shall prepare and distribute to its customers educational material regarding Recycling programs to promote the reduction of the residual amount of non-Recyclable Materials from "single stream" Recyclable Materials Collected pursuant to this Agreement.

Page 28 of 68

- (2) To the extent that source separated Green Waste materials are Collected under this Agreement, Processing by such MRF facilities of the aggregate shall not result in a residual amount of non-Recyclable Solid Waste that exceeds five percent (5%) by weight, measured quarterly on a facility wide basis. Contractor shall, or shall cause the MRF facilities to, conduct quarterly content analyses of the Green Waste materials Collected pursuant to this Agreement and report the results of such analyses to the County. Contractor shall prepare and distribute to its customers educational material regarding Recycling programs to promote the reduction of the residual amount of non-Recyclable Materials from Green Waste materials Collected pursuant to this Agreement.
- (3) Contractor will receive and process C&D Debris, and will comply with the SWMP directive and CalRecycle diversion goals for all materials diversion. C&D Debris types to be sorted are: wood, asphalt shingles, concrete, metal, scrap aluminum, gypsum, tires, and rigid plastic, provided end-use markets are available and feasible. Contractor shall provide in-bound weight tags and assist customers as necessary to ensure customer compliance with all C&D Debris reporting and diversion requirements.
- (4) New heavy equipment (rolling stock) will be purchased to enhance the processing of C&D Debris and allow for grinding, of C&D Debris and Green Waste.
- (5) Extraordinary or unusual materials generated within the County, such as might occur in the case of a major fire or other extraordinary or unusual event, may be received at a MRF facility and materially increase the amount of residual material at such MRF facility. In which case such materials shall be excluded from the percentage Recycling calculations, provided that Contractor notifies the County of the nature and approximate amount of such materials within thirty (30) days of their receipt at a MRF facility and provides a reasonable explanation as to why such materials are extraordinary or unusual compared with the Wastestream typically received at such MRF facilities.

SECTION 8 – PERMANENT HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE COLLECTION FACILITY

A. OVERALL RESPONSIBILITIES

Contractor shall be the Operator of the PHHWCF under the applicable regulations of the Department of Toxic Substances Control such that Contractor shall be responsible for the operations and closure and any required post-closure monitoring or maintenance of the PHHWCF:

(1) Contractor shall, at its sole cost and expense, provide management, supervision, personnel, materials, equipment, services, and supplies necessary to operate, maintain, and repair the PHHWCF, throughout the term of this Agreement, in a manner consistent with good engineering, operational, and maintenance practices and procedures, and in compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances, in order to receive HHW during the PHHWCF operating Page 29 of 68

hours, and to store and arrange for Recycling or Disposal of such Hazardous Waste all in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(2) Contractor shall provide for the removal and transportation to Licensed Hazardous Waste Recycling Treatment or Disposal Facilities ("TSDFs") of all Hazardous Waste received at the PHHWCF. Wherever possible, Hazardous Waste shall be Recycled or, if not possible, treated or incinerated. If Recycling, treatment, and incineration all are not available alternatives, then, and only then, may Contractor arrange for the Landfilling of Hazardous Waste. The County hereby agrees that all Hazardous Waste Manifests for such removal, transportation, and Disposal shall bear the name of the County as Generator of the waste, and shall be signed by Contractor as an authorized representative of the County. Contractor shall dispose in the aforesaid manner of all Hazardous Wastes received at the PHHWCF in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations. Contractor shall remove such Hazardous Wastes in a reasonable and cost-effective manner consistent with the other provisions of this section. Contractor shall determine the TSDFs to be used for Recycling, treatment, incineration, or Disposal of such Hazardous Wastes, and Contractor shall use such TSDFs for such purposes unless otherwise directed by the County or unless uncontrollable circumstances require use of an alternative TSDF. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, Contractor shall obtain the prior written approval of the County before Landfilling any Hazardous Waste.

B. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

Throughout the duration of this Agreement, Contractor shall operate and maintain the PHHWCF, and shall arrange for the storage of Hazardous Waste at the PHHWCF and the shipment or delivery of Hazardous Waste to Licensed Hazardous Waste Recyclers or Disposal Facilities in compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local statutes, laws, regulations, and ordinances, as currently in existence or as may be enacted or modified during the term of this Agreement.

Contractor shall comply with, and pay, any fine, penalty, or other charge with respect to Contractor's failure to adhere to, all requirements of any applicable environmental laws and regulations or other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, regulations, and rules, and any permits issued thereunder, which are necessary for the operation of the PHHWCF, unless such fine, penalty or other charge is imposed by reason of acts or omissions of the County or other third parties beyond Contractor's control.

C. SAFETY OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY

Throughout the term of this Agreement Contractor agrees that it will:

- (1) Take all reasonable precautions to prevent damage, injury or loss, by reason of or related to the operation and maintenance of the PHHWCF, to any property on the PHHWCF site or adjacent thereto, including equipment, structures, and utilities;
- (2) Establish and maintain safety procedures for the PHHWCF for the protection of employees of Contractor and all other persons, invitees, and permittees at the PHHWCF in connection with the operation and maintenance thereof at a level consistent with applicable law and with good industry standards and practices for Hazardous Waste Collection facilities;

Page 30 of 68

- (3) Comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, and lawful orders of any governmental agency relating to the safety of persons or property at the PHHWCF or their protection at the PHHWCF from damage, injury or loss; and
- (4) Designate a qualified and responsible member of its organization at the PHHWCF site whose duties shall include safety and the prevention of fires and accidents at the PHHWCF and the PHHWCF site and to coordinate such activities as shall be necessary with federal, state, local, and municipal officials.

D. REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE OF THE PHHWCF AND PHHWCF SITE

Contractor shall operate and maintain the PHHWCF and the PHHWCF site in a good, clean and orderly condition, reasonable wear and tear accepted, including necessary repairs and equipment maintenance. The County and Contractor will seek opportunities for grant funds where appropriate. Any capital improvements or major repairs shall be paid for by Contractor.

E. PERSONNEL

All of Contractor's personnel assigned to the PHHWCF shall be appropriately trained in accordance with all applicable rules, regulations, and law so that the PHHWCF will be operated and maintained in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations.

F. OPERATING PERIOD / RECEIVING TIME / LEGAL HOLIDAYS

- (1) Contractor shall keep the PHHWCF open for receiving and shall receive HHW from the general public is from 9:00 am to 4:00 pm on Friday, Saturday, and Sunday. HHW will be accepted from Conditionally Exempt Small Quantity Generators (CESQGs) Friday, Saturday, and Sunday from 8:00 am to 4:00 pm.
- (2) Contractor agrees to receive Hazardous Waste at the PHHWCF at hours other than the receiving time, if:
 - (a) Waste resulting from an emergency or from programs of the County or any local governmental entity designed to promote clean-up of an area serviced by the PHHWCF;
 - (b) The PHHWCF is able, in the reasonable judgment of Contractor, to receive such additional quantities of Hazardous Waste without adversely affecting Contractor's operation or maintenance of the PHHWCF and/or the MRF; and
 - (c) The County provides Contractor with reasonably adequate advance notice of such delivery of Hazardous Waste to enable Contractor to respond to any such request. Written confirmation shall be provided within ten (10) days of such event.
- (3) Contractor, with the consent of the County (which shall not be unreasonably withheld), may change the list of HHW materials that are acceptable for Disposal at

the PHHWCF. Contractor shall be under no obligation to accept or receive Hazardous Waste that is not identified as acceptable for Disposal at the PHHWCF.

G. WEIGHING OF CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SMALL QUANTITY GENERATOR'S HAZARDOUS WASTE

Contractor shall maintain access to accurate weigh scales, for the purpose of determining the total weight of Hazardous Waste received at the PHHWCF Site from CESQGs. A gate fee (approved by the County pursuant to the MRF) shall be established and Collected for CESQG waste.

H. CLOSURE

Contractor shall conduct the proper closure of the PHHWCF and any required post-closure monitoring or maintenance thereof, in accordance with any and all applicable federal or state laws and regulations now existing or which may hereafter be promulgated. Contractor shall be responsible for providing adequate financial assurances for the closure and post-closure of the PHHWCF and for establishing the existence of such financial assurances to the satisfaction of the County and any applicable regulatory agencies, and shall comply with the provisions of Title 22, California Code of Regulations, section 67450.30 or any successor regulation or amendment thereof.

I. SUBCONTRACTOR

Contractor may subcontract the operation of the PHHWCF to a third party, with the County's consent, provided that such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. This subcontractor shall be governed by the terms of this Section 8.

SECTION 9 – FACILITIES FOR SOLID WASTE PROCESSING AND DISPOSAL

A. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE FULLY PERMITTED DISPOSAL FACILITY

Contractor shall be responsible for choosing the facility for Disposal of Solid Waste under this Agreement; provided, however, that any Landfill utilized by Contractor must be designed and constructed in accordance with applicable federal and state regulations. The Landfill must have all required permits from federal, state, regional, county, and city agencies necessary for it to operate as a Class II or III Sanitary Landfill and be in full regulatory compliance with all such permits. Contractor shall provide copies to the County of all notices of violations that could affect Contractor's ability to perform under this Agreement, or amendments to permits, including any extensions. The Landfill shall not maintain the co-Disposal of MSW and Hazardous Waste (other than HHW) in the same lined cell.

Any Landfill must be authorized to accept, under its existing permits, and have sufficient uncommitted capacity to accept, all Solid Waste delivered to it from the Franchise Area for the duration of this Agreement. See California Public Resources Code section 41701. Contractor shall immediately notify the County of any notice of breach or default received from the Landfill. To the extent that Contractor owns and/or operates a Landfill, Contractor shall ensure that the Landfill is in full compliance with all closure and post-closure planning

Page 32 of 68

requirements applicable to the Landfill, and the Landfill has posted with the applicable governmental authorities all required financial assurances for closure and post-closure.

B. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE FULLY PERMITTED MATERIAL RECOVERY AND TRANSFER FACILITIES

Any Material Recovery or transfer facilities utilized by Contractor must be designed and constructed in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations. The facilities must have all required permits from federal, state, regional, county, and city agencies necessary for them to operate and be in full regulatory compliance with all such permits. To the extent Contractor owns and/or operates a facility, or otherwise has actual knowledge of such violations, Contractor shall provide copies to the County of all notices of violations respecting any such facility used by Contractor that could affect Contractor's ability to perform under this Agreement, or amendments to permits, including any extensions. Any such facility must be authorized to accept, under its existing permits, and have sufficient uncommitted capacity to accept, all Solid Waste delivered to it from the Franchise Area for the duration of this Agreement.

C. DISPOSAL IN COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Throughout the term of this Agreement, it shall be Contractor's sole responsibility and duty to dispose of the Solid Waste Collected by virtue of this Agreement, and to do so in a safe manner and in compliance with all federal, state, and to the extent not inconsistent with this Agreement, local laws, and regulations.

D. FUTURE FACILITIES FOR SOLID WASTE PROCESSING AND DISPOSAL ADVANCED TECHNOLOGIES

Contractor has the responsibility and discretion to utilize a permitted processing facility or landfill. However, the County reserves the future right to redirect the Wastestream to another facility approved by the County to comply with long-term waste management needs and divert any waste from Landfill(s). Contractor, without constraint and as a free-market business decision in accepting this Agreement, agrees to use such facility or other location approved by the County for the purpose of transferring, hauling, transporting, diverting, or disposing Solid Waste and Recyclable Materials Collected in the Franchise Area. Contractor agrees that the County's right to redirect the Wastestream in no way constitutes a restraint of trade or an impairment of contracts.

E. MRF MODERNIZATION

Contractor shall provide for a modernized MRF and Transfer Station. This new facility will provide for better throughput for self-haul customers who will dump inside of the facility. This design will enhance safety for both the public and the facilities employees.

The design will include a self-haul tipping area for all public customers to drop off their Recyclables before dumping any garbage. Materials Collected in this area will include: cardboard, paper, mixed Recycling, metal, aluminum, plastic, glass, E-waste, batteries, gently used items for local charitable organizations, and other materials as markets become available.

New specialized C&D Debris sorting equipment will be installed. New specialized yellow iron to support additional Recycling of C&D Debris will be purchased. This activity will be done inside of the new MRF. A grinder will be purchased to support residual C&D Debris to be used as Alternative Daily Cover to maximize diversion. Contractor will pursue the ability to grind wood waste.

This MRF facility will contain a new public education area. This center will be used for various types of tours. This modernized facility will meet the new storm water regulations taking effect July 1, 2015. Operations within the facility will take place under roof. The HHW facility will be open Friday through Sunday.

Sorting of MSW will continue until such time as Contractor and the County determine that it is no longer necessary based on curbside program implementation. Curbside Recyclables and commercial Recyclables will continue to be shipped to a commingled Recycling Processor for Processing. Contractor may choose to Process Recyclables in house depending on economic conditions. An area inside the new MRF will be designated for the storage and shipping of commingled Recyclables.

Contractor will continue to partner with the County to pursue additional locations for Green Waste Processing and composting along with alternative technology solutions.

SECTION 10 - CASH BOND AND INSURANCE

A. CASH BOND

In the event Contractor fails to make timely payment of any Franchise Fees owed to the County, after ten (10) days written notice from the County demanding such payment, the County may require Contractor, in addition to paying the late Franchise Fee payment plus default interest thereon, to deposit with the County a cash bond, a performance bond or a letter of credit for the benefit of the County in the sum of seventy-five thousand dollars (\$75,000.00) the County shall deposit the cash deposit in an interest-bearing account. The cash bond, performance bond or letter of credit shall be on terms acceptable to the County's Counsel. The cash bond, performance bond or letter of credit shall serve as security for the faithful performance by Contractor of all the provisions and obligations of this Agreement. All interest shall be paid to Contractor.

- (1) After thirty (30) days following Contractor's failure to pay the County an amount owing under this Agreement plus interest at the rate of fifteen percent (15%) per annum, or, if less, the maximum interest rate allowed by law, the cash bond or letter of credit may be assessed by the County upon five (5) days prior written notice to Contractor for purposes including, but not limited to:
 - (a) Failure of Contractor to pay the County sums due under the terms of the Agreement;
 - (b) Reimbursement of costs borne by the County to correct Agreement violations not corrected by Contractor, after due notice; and

- (c) Monetary remedies or liquidated damages assessed against Contractor due to breach of Agreement.
- (2) Contractor shall deposit a sum of money sufficient to restore the cash bond or provide a renewed letter of credit to the original amount within thirty (30) days after notice from the County that any amount has been withdrawn from the cash bond or letter of credit.

B. INSURANCE

Contractor shall provide proof of a policy of insurance satisfactory to the County of El Dorado Risk Manager (Risk Manager) and documentation evidencing that Contractor maintains insurance that meets the following requirements:

- (1) Full Workers' Compensation and Employers' Liability Insurance covering all employees of Contractor as required by law in the State of California;
- (2) Commercial General Liability Insurance of not less than five million dollars (\$5,000,000.00) combined single limit per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage, including, but not limited to, endorsements for the following coverage: Premises, personal injury, operations, products, and completed operations, blanket contractual, and independent contractors liability;
- (3) Automobile Liability Insurance of not less than five million dollars (\$5,000,000.00) is required in the event motor vehicles are used by Contractor in performance of the contract;
- (4) Environmental Impairment Insurance in an amount not less than five million dollars (\$5,000,000.00) per occurrence;
- (5) Explosion, Collapse, and Underground (XCU) coverage is required when the scope of work includes XCU exposures;
- (6) Contractor shall furnish proof of coverage satisfactory to the El Dorado County Risk Manager as evidence that the insurance required herein is being maintained. The insurance will be issued by an insurance company acceptable to the Risk Manager (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld), or be provided through partial or total self-insurance likewise acceptable to the Risk Manager;
- (7) The County, its officer, officials, and employees, and volunteers are included as additional insured, but only insofar as the operations under this agreement are concerned. This provision shall apply to all liability policies except Workers' Compensation and professional liability insurance policies. Proof that the County is named additional insured shall be made by providing the Risk Manager with a certified copy, or other acceptable evidence, of an endorsement to Contractor's insurance policy naming the County additional insured;
- (8) In the event Contractor cannot provide an occurrence policy, Contractor shall provide insurance covering claims made as a result of performance of this Contract for not less than three (3) years following completion of performance of this Agreement;
- (9) Any self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by the County (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld);

- (10) The insurance required herein shall provide that should any of the policies be cancelled prior to the expiration date thereof, notice will be delivered to the County at the office of the Community Development Agency, Environmental Management Division, in accordance with the policy provisions;
- (11) Contractor agrees that the insurance required herein shall be in effect at all times during the term of this Agreement. In the event said insurance coverage expires at any time or times during the term of this Agreement, Contractor agrees to provide at least thirty (30) days prior to said expiration date, a new certificate of insurance evidencing insurance coverage as provided for herein for not less than the remainder of the term of the Agreement or for a period of not less than one (1) year (for an occurrence policy) or three (3) years (for a claims made policy). New certificates of insurance are subject to the approval of the Risk Manager;
- (12) Certificate shall meet such additional standards as may be reasonably determined by the County's Community Development Agency, Environmental Management Division either independently or in consultation with the Risk Manager, as essential for protection of the County;
- (13) Contractor shall not commence performance of this Agreement unless and until compliance with each and every requirement of the insurance provisions is achieved;
- (14) Failure of Contractor to maintain the insurance required herein, or to comply with any of the requirements of the insurance provisions, shall constitute a material breach of the entire Agreement;
- (15) Any failure to comply with the reporting provisions of the policies shall not affect coverage provided to the County, its officers, officials, employees, or volunteers;
- (16) Contractor's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respects to the County, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers. Any insurance or selfinsurance maintained by the County, its officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of Contractor's insurance and shall not contribute with it;
- (17) The insurance companies shall have no recourse against the County, its officers, agents, employees, or any of them for payment of any premiums or assessments under any policy issued by any insurance company;
- (18) Contractor's indemnity and other obligations shall not be limited by the insurance required herein and shall survive the expiration of the Agreement; and
- (19) To the extent that this Section 10, "Contractor's Insurance", is inconsistent with 7-1.12, "Responsibility for Damage", of the State of California, Department of Transportation, Caltrans, Standard Specifications, July 1992, this Article shall govern; otherwise each and every provision of such Section 7-1.12 shall be applicable to this Agreement.

SECTION 11 – TERM

A. INITIAL TERM

The Initial Term of this Agreement shall be effective when fully executed by all parties and shall expire five (5) years following the effective date of this Agreement. This Agreement

Page 36 of 68

shall be automatically extended for an additional period of ten (10) years, contingent upon Contractor completing the construction of a new state-of-the-art transfer station / MRF with a new state-of-the-art equipment C&D Debris sort line on the site of the existing transfer station located at 4100 Throwita Way in accordance with the timeline and the plans specified in Exhibit D and verified by the County. The additional ten (10) year extension shall not be granted if Contractor fails to permit and/or complete construction of the new state-of-the-art facility within the time specified in Exhibit D.

Over the Franchise Term, Contractor Transfer Station / MRF rates will be adjusted using the calculation specified in the County's Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated Areas (Page D-4, under Pass Through Costs, based on eighty-five percent (85%) of the prior change in the Consumer Price Index, All Urban Consumers, U.S. City Average - Garbage and Trash Collection). At no time over the Franchise term will Contractor be allowed to request, and the Board will not approve, an increase in refuse Collection rates or Transfer Station / MRF rates to compensate Contractor for any of the costs of the new Transfer Station / MRF improvements at 4100 Throwita Way (currently estimated at eight to twelve million dollars (\$8,000,000.00 - \$12,000,000.00). EDD service will provide the actual agreed upon cost when completed, and Contractor must furnish an itemized list of the final facility costs, by asset name, asset description, asset number, acquisition date, and acquisition cost. This asset listing shall be retained in County files and listed as an attachment to the Franchise Agreement.

In the event the new Transfer Station / MRF improvements are not completed within timelines provided in Exhibit D, regardless of whether or not Contractor obtains the necessary permits for construction, Contractor shall not be entitled to the automatic extension of the initial term of five (5) years. Contractor shall provide the County with 120 days prior written notice before the current termination of this Agreement of its desire to extend the term of this Agreement. Said renewal option may be exercised only if Contractor is in material compliance with the terms and conditions of the Agreement.

B. RENEWAL OPTIONS

The County shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to unilaterally extend the term of this Agreement for additional periods of one (1) year each, up to a maximum of two (2) such extensions. If the County elects to so extend this Agreement for either one (1) or both of these optional extension periods, the County shall give Contractor notice of its election to exercise each such option a minimum of ninety (90) days before the current termination date of this Agreement.

SECTION 12 - FRANCHISE TRANSFERABLE / CONSENT REQUIRED

A. NO ASSIGNMENT WITHOUT CONSENT

The franchise granted by this Agreement shall not be transferred, sold, hypothecated, sublet or assigned, nor shall any of the rights or privileges herein be hypothecated, leased, assigned, subcontracted, sold, or transferred, either in whole or in part, nor shall title

Page 37 of 68

thereto, either legal or equitable, or any right, interest, or property therein, pass to or vest in any person, except Contractor, by act of Contractor, without the prior written consent of the County expressed by Resolution of the Board of Supervisors, which consent may be denied or approved by the County in its sole and absolute discretion. Any attempt by Contractor to assign this franchise without the consent of the County shall be void. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor may assign or subcontract this agreement or a portion thereof to another corporate affiliate of Contractor upon advance written notice to the County, provided that the assignor and guarantor, if any, each shall remain liable for performance of this Agreement.

In the event of any assignment for which County consent is required pursuant to this Section, Contractor's assignee shall not be allowed to recover in its rates set pursuant to this Agreement any of the assignee's costs of acquisition of Contractor or to recoup any interest or financing charges incurred by such assignee relating to the costs of such acquisition.

B. ASSIGNMENT DEFINED

The term "assignment" shall include any dissolution, merger, consolidation or other reorganization of Contractor, which results in change of control of Contractor, or the sale or other transfer of a controlling percentage of Contractor's capital stock to a person not a shareholder, immediate family member, management employee, or principal of Contractor, or to an Affiliate on the date of the execution of this Agreement.

C. "CHANGE IN CONTROL" DEFINED

County consent is required for any change in control of Contractor. "Change in Control" shall mean any sale, transfer or acquisition of Contractor. If Contractor is a corporation, any acquisition of more than ten percent (10%) of Contractor's voting stock by an entity or a person, or group of persons acting in concert, provided; however, any transfer of ownership of any or all of the stock of Contractor to a wholly owned subsidiary or corporate affiliate of Contractor or transfers, directly or indirectly, to an existing owner or transfer by an existing owner to another immediate family member (including adopted or stepchildren) or any direct lineal descendant of the existing owners shall not constitute a change in ownership, provided that the transferor shall each remain liable for performance of this Agreement. In the event of any such excepted transfer, the transferee shall be subject to the provisions of this Agreement including the restrictions on any subsequent transfers.

D. TRANSITION

In the event Contractor is not awarded an agreement to continue to provide Collection services following the expiration or early termination of this Agreement, Contractor shall reasonably cooperate with the County and any subsequent Contractors to assure a smooth transition of Collection services described in this Agreement. Such cooperation shall include but not be limited to: transfer of computer data, files, and tapes; providing routing information, route maps, vehicle fleet information (if such subsequent contractor is acquiring such fleet from Contractor, as determined in Contractor's sole and absolute discretion); list of Single-Family Units, Multi-Family Units, and Commercial Solid Waste customers; providing a complete inventory of all Carts, Bins, Compactors, and Roll-Off Containers; providing adequate labor and equipment to complete performance of all Collection services required under this Agreement; taking all actions necessary to remove

or, to the extent required under the terms of this Agreement, transfer ownership of Carts, Bins, Compactors, and Roll-Off Containers as appropriate to the County, including transporting such containers to a location designated by the Contract Administrator; and providing other reports and data required by this Agreement.

E. BREACH

Any assignment or change in control of Contractor occurring without prior County approval shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement.

F. COUNTY'S OPTION TO TERMINATE / CONDITIONS TO ASSIGNMENT

In the event Contractor attempts to assign or subcontract this Agreement or any part hereof or any obligation hereunder in contravention of this Section 12, the County shall have the right to elect to terminate this Agreement forthwith, without suit or other proceeding. The County may, in its sole discretion, condition its consent to any assignment of this Agreement on the assignee's written agreement to incorporate additional reasonable terms and conditions in this Agreement, including provisions for liquidated damages, enhanced performance standards, and additional financial assurances and guarantees, in order to ensure that any such assignee continues to deliver the highest quality of services to its customers at reasonable rates.

G. CONDITIONS FOR OBTAINING COUNTY'S CONSENT

The County's consent to an assignment or change of control may be withheld in the County's sole and unfettered discretion and may also be withheld if, inter alia, the following conditions are not satisfied:

- (1) Contractor shall give the County at least ninety (90) days advance written notice of Contractor's intent to sell, transfer or assign this Agreement. As part of that notice, Contractor shall provide to the County the following written information:
 - (a) The name, address, telephone number, and email of the proposed assignee;
 - (b) The character of the legal entity owning or controlling the assignee, and the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of all principals, partners, and/or shareholders thereof, as the case may be;
 - (c) Financial statements of the proposed assignee for the immediately preceding five
 (5) operating years, indicating that the proposed assignee's financial status is sufficient to perform all Contractor's obligations;
 - (d) Satisfactory proof that the proposed assignee or the management thereof has at least seven (7) years of MSW experience on a scale equal to or exceeding the scale of operations conducted by Contractor and has operated in a manner consistent with its contractual obligations to other municipalities which it serves in respect of AB 939;
 - (e) Satisfactory proof that in the last seven (7) years, the proposed assignee has maintained its waste management operations in a manner satisfactory to other

municipalities in which it operates and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

- (f) A copy of any and all purchase and assignment agreements containing, at a minimum, the terms and conditions of the sale, transfer or assignment of this Agreement, and of Contractor's Solid Waste and Recycling business; provided, however, that the dollar amount of any financial consideration may be deleted from said copies unless and until said information becomes relevant to the review of Contractor's transferee rates under this Agreement; provided, further; however, that nothing in this Agreement shall obligate the County to treat any of said acquisition costs as an allowable expense of said transferee for rate setting purposes; and
- (g) Any other information required by the County to ensure the proposed transferee can fully assume and satisfactorily perform all of Contractor's obligations hereunder in a timely, safe, and effective manner.
- (2) The proposed transferee must be shown, by credible and sufficient evidence, to be qualified, by financial condition, background and experience to be able to fully assume and satisfactorily perform all of Contractor's obligations hereunder, and particularly, to be able to perform under this Agreement in a fashion that will assure the County of complying with AB 939.
- (3) The transferee must be willing to, in writing, assume all of the obligations hereunder.

SECTION 13 - FRANCHISE TRANSFER FEES

A. TRANSFER FEES

Any application for a franchise transfer shall be made in a manner prescribed by the County. The application shall include a transfer fee in an amount to be set by the County by Resolution of the Board of Supervisors, to cover the anticipated cost of all direct administrative expenses of the County, including consultants and attorneys, necessary to adequately analyze the application and to reimburse the County for all direct and indirect expenses. Such transfer fee shall not exceed thirty-five thousand dollars (\$35,000.00). The County's request for reimbursement shall be supported with evidence of the expense or cost incurred. The applicant shall pay such bills within thirty (30) days of receipt.

B. NON-RECOVERABLE COSTS

These Franchise transfer Fees are over and above any Franchise Fees specified in this Agreement, and shall not be recoverable costs for rate setting purposes.

A. INTENT

Contractor acknowledges and agrees that one of the County's primary goals in entering into this Agreement is to ensure that the services rendered by Contractor are of the highest caliber, customer satisfaction is at the highest level, Recycling goals are achieved, and that performance standards are met.

B. ADMINISTRATIVE CHARGES

It shall be the duty of Contractor to perform all services under this Agreement in such a manner as to implement the goals and specifications set forth in this Section and this Agreement. In the event Contractor fails to satisfactorily perform the services set forth in this Agreement, the County may assess an administrative charge against Contractor in the following amounts:

a.	For each occurrence over four (4) during any calendar year, failure or neglect to respond to and take corrective action to address each customer complaint by the close of business of the second regularly scheduled waste Collection day.	\$300.00 per incident per customer
b.	Failure to respond to and take corrective action to address spillage or litter caused by Contractor within seventy-two (72) hours of notification.	\$300.00 per incident per location
С.	Failure to maintain or timely submit to the County all documents and reports required under the provisions of this Agreement, and Contractor fails to cure said failure within five (5) days of written notification from the County.	\$300.00 per incident
d.	For each occurrence over six (6) during any calendar year, failure to properly cover materials in Collection vehicles to prevent littering of highways or streets.	\$500.00 per incident
e.	Failure to comply with the hours of operation of the MRF as required by this Agreement.	\$300.00 per incident per day
f.	Failure or neglect to complete at least ninety percent (90%) of each route on the regular scheduled Collection service work day, except for Holidays, extreme weather conditions and unexpected vehicle mechanicals problems.	\$1,000.00 for each route not completed

g.	Contractor's missed pickup rate shall not exceed 0.005, which means Contractor is allowed to miss no more than five (5) pick-ups per one-thousand (1,000) scheduled pick-ups, on average during any given Collection day. A "missed pickup" is defined as a customer calling to complain that their trash/Recycling container was not serviced on the scheduled day. If a customer's container is not accessible and it is noted as such in Contractor's system via driver communication (Haul or Call process) or is due to inclement weather, or the customer has not set out the container(s), or it is noted as a "Not Out" by the driver, a missed pickup will not be assigned. Also, if the service is perceived as late but is still completed by Contractor on the scheduled service day, this does not count as a missed pickup.	\$300.00 per day
h.	Failure to answer customer phone calls within forty- five (45) seconds on average during normal business hours, measured on a daily basis. This time is measured by Contractor's phone system. The official time is the span between the time the customer makes their final selection from the prompts and a live Customer Service Representative answers the phone.	\$100.00 per day
i.	Contractor's average abandon rate (dropped calls) can be no greater than five percent (5%), measured on a daily basis. Calls dropped within ten (10) seconds do not count as abandoned calls.	\$100.00 per day
j.	For each occurrence in a calendar year, failure to timely service customers at the MRF, such that the waiting time to enter the facility is longer than fifteen (15) minutes per vehicle due to Contractor's failure to commit adequate resources at the scale house to efficiently process vehicles in a timely manner. The number of tipping stalls occupied and overall vehicle traffic and safety must be considered when assessing compliance with this performance metric.	\$150.00 per incident

k.	For each occurrence over five (5) in a calendar year,	\$150.00 per incident
	failure to timely service customers at the MRF, such	
	that the waiting time before unloading of a vehicle is	
	longer than fifteen (15) minutes per vehicle from time	
	of entry through the scale house onto Contractor's site	
	to time of unloading.	

The parties recognize that if Contractor fails to achieve the performance standards set forth above, the County will suffer damages and that it is and will be impracticable and extremely difficult to ascertain and determine the exact amount of damages that the County will suffer. Therefore, the parties agree that the foregoing administrative charges represent a reasonable estimate of the amount of such damages considering all of the circumstances existing on the Commencement Date, including the relationship of the sum to the range of harm to the County that reasonably could be anticipated and anticipation that proof of actual damages would be costly or inconvenient.

C. NOTICE OF INTENT TO ASSESS ADMINISTRATIVE CHARGES

Before the County may assess administrative charges pursuant to this Section, for each category of violation (that is, for each of the categories (a) through (j) in the above chart), the County shall give Contractor written notice of Contractor's violation of the performance standard and of the County's intent to assess administrative charges for any future violation of the same performance standard. Such notice shall not be required if the County has previously assessed administrative charges against Contractor for a prior violation of the same performance standard within the prior twelve (12) months. The purpose of this provision is to give Contractor notice that the County considers Contractor to have violated a performance standard, and that the County will assess administrative charges if such violations are repeated.

D. PROCEDURE FOR REVIEW OF ADMINISTRATIVE CHARGES

The County may assess administrative charges pursuant to this Section on a monthly basis. At the end of each month during the term of this Agreement, the County shall issue a written notice to Contractor ("Notice of Assessment") of the administrative charges assessed and the basis for each assessment. The assessment shall become final unless, within ten (10) calendar days of the date of the Notice of Assessment, Contractor provides a written request for a meeting with the County to present evidence that the assessment should not be made. The County shall schedule a meeting with Contractor as soon as reasonably possible after timely receipt of Contractor's request. The County shall review Contractor's evidence and render a decision sustaining or reversing the administrative charges as soon as reasonably possible after the meeting. Written notice of the decision shall be provided to Contractor. The County's decision will be final and binding. In the event Contractor does not submit a written request for a meeting within ten (10) calendar days of the date of the Notice of Assessment, the County determination shall be final and the County may assess the administrative charges, unless the County waives this requirement. Contractor's failure to pay administrative charges within thirty (30) days of the County's final assessment of such charges shall be a material breach of this Agreement. The County's assessment or Collection of administrative charges shall not prevent the County from exercising any other right or remedy, including the right to terminate this Agreement, for Contractor's failure to perform Page 43 of 68

the work and services in the manner set forth in this Agreement. Nothing herein shall preclude Contractor from seeking judicial review of any decision by the County to assess administrative charges. The imposition of such charges shall be stayed if Contractor seeks such review.

SECTION 15 - TERMINATION

A. MATERIAL BREACH OF CONTRACTOR'S OBLIGATIONS

In the event of Contractor's material failure or refusal to comply with the obligations and duties imposed on Contractor pursuant to this Agreement, the County and Contractor shall meet and confer in good faith in an effort to agree on a resolution and cure of the breach. If the parties are unable to agree on the informal resolution or cure of the breach, the County shall have the right to terminate this Agreement if:

- (1) The County had given prior written notice to Contractor specifying that a particular default or defaults exist which will, unless corrected, constitute a material breach on the part of Contractor of this Agreement; and
- (2) Contractor has not corrected such default within ninety (90) days from the date of the notice given pursuant to clause (A)(1) of this section, or, if said default is not reasonably correctable within said time, Contractor has not taken reasonable steps to commence to correct the same within said ninety (90) days, or thereafter does not diligently continue to take reasonable steps to correct such default.

B. CONTRACTOR'S DEFAULT

In addition, each of the following shall constitute an event of default:

- (1) If Contractor practices, or attempts to practice, any fraud or deceit upon the County;
- (2) Should Contractor or any of its officers, directors, managers, or employees be or have been found guilty of criminal activity related directly or indirectly to performance of this Agreement or bribery of public officials, the County reserves the unilateral right to terminate this Agreement or to impose such sanctions (which may include financial sanctions, or temporary suspensions) as the County shall deem proper. The term "found guilty" shall be deemed to include any judicial determination of guilt including, but not limited to, pleas of "guilty", "nolo contendere", "no contest", or "guilty to a lesser charge' entered as part of a plea bargain;
- (3) If Contractor fails to provide or maintain in full force and affect the workers' compensation or any other insurance coverage or performance bond required by this Agreement;
- (4) If Contractor willfully violates any orders or rulings of any regulatory body having jurisdiction over Contractor, provided Contractor may reasonably contest any such orders or rulings by appropriate proceedings conducted in

good faith, in which case no breach of this Agreement shall be deemed to have occurred until final resolution of such proceedings;

- (5) If Contractor fails to make any payments or to pay any penalties required to be made or paid pursuant to this Agreement;
- (6) Except as provided under Section 28(A), if Contractor for any reason ceases to provide Collection services as required under this Agreement over all or a substantial portion of the Franchise Area for a period of seven (7) consecutive days; or
- (7) The refusal, failure, or neglect of Contractor to file any of the reports required, or to provide material information to the County, or the intentional inclusion of any materially false or misleading statement or representation made knowingly by Contractor.

C. EVENTS OF INSOLVENCY

Contractor shall be in material breach of this Agreement if Contractor:

- (1) Becomes insolvent or bankrupt, or ceases to pay its debts as they mature, or makes an arrangement with or for the benefit of its creditors, or consenting to or acquiescing in the appointment of a receiver, trustee or liquidator for a substantial part of its property; or
- (2) Becomes a party to a voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy, winding up, reorganization, insolvency, arrangement, or similar proceeding instituted by or against Contractor under the laws of any jurisdiction, which proceeding, if involuntary in nature, has not been dismissed within sixty (60) days; or
- (3) Takes any action approving of, consenting to, or acquiescing in any such proceeding; or
- (4) Becomes a party to the levy of any distress, execution or attachment upon the property of Contractor which shall substantially interfere with Contractor's performance hereunder.

In the event of the occurrence of any of the foregoing, Contractor shall:

- (1) Assume or reject this Agreement within sixty (60) days after the order for relief;
- (2) Promptly cure any failure to perform its obligations or any event of default arising under this Agreement for reasons other than the event set forth in this paragraph; and
- (3) Provide adequate assurance of future performance under this Agreement under Title 11, U.S. Code, section 365(b)(1)(c), or any successor provision of the Federal Bankruptcy Code. The foregoing provisions shall not prevent the County from requesting such other conditions to assumption of this Agreement, as it deems reasonable and necessary.

D. NO WAIVERS

Any waiver of a breach or default shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach or default or to be construed as approval of a course of conduct.

Page 45 of 68

E. TERMINATION

Upon the occurrence of a material breach and the declaration of termination of this Agreement by the Board of Supervisors, this Agreement and the franchise granted thereunder shall be of no further force and effect, excepting those provisions concerning the County's right to indemnity. The County then shall be free to enter into whatever other arrangements are deemed justified and necessary for the Collection, removal and Disposal of Solid Waste within the Franchise Area.

Should Contractor at any time contend that the County has breached any material provision of this Agreement, Contractor shall immediately notify the County in writing of Contractor's contention. The parties shall, at either party's request, promptly meet and confer to discuss the informal resolution of the dispute. The County shall have a reasonable time to cure any such alleged breach, which in all events shall not be less than ninety (90) days or any such longer period as reasonably needed to cure said breach. If the County fails to cure the breach within such time, Contractor may terminate this Agreement, and the franchise granted thereunder shall be of no further force and effect, excepting those provisions concerning Contractor's right to indemnity. Nothing herein shall preclude Contractor from seeking judicial review of any County decision, nor shall it preclude either party from seeking any available legal and equitable remedies for a breach of contract by the other party.

In addition, in the case of the termination of this Agreement prior to the expiration of the initial term or optional extension term(s) due to the default of Contractor as set forth in this Agreement, the County shall have the right to take possession of the Carts at the fair market value price or direct Contractor to Collect all Carts in the Franchise Area.

F. RIGHT TO SUSPEND

The County may suspend this Agreement, in whole or in part, if Contractor fails to cure within the time frame specified in Section 15.A. until Contractor can provide assurance of performance. Contractor shall have at a minimum, a right to quantum meruit for the services it continues to perform during any suspension. For the purposes of this section, "suspend" means to temporarily freeze, set aside, and make inoperative one or more provisions of this Agreement.

G. RIGHT TO PERFORM SERVICES

If the County suspends or terminates Contractor's services pursuant to this Section 15, the County shall have the rights granted to it under Section 16 (D) – (F) hereof, including the right to perform or cause to be performed such service itself with its own or other personnel or equipment, and or seek Contractor's consent to utilize Contractor's equipment as provided under Section 16 (F) hereof.

H. NONEXCLUSIVE REMEDIES

The County's right to suspend or terminate this Agreement, to obtain specific performance, and to perform hereunder are not exclusive, and the County's exercise of one such right shall not constitute an election of remedies. The County's remedy shall be in addition to any and all other legal and equitable rights and remedies, including the right to contract with another service provider, that the County may have under this Agreement or as provided by law.

Page 46 of 68

SECTION 16 - RIGHTS OF COUNTY TO PERFORM DURING EMERGENCY

A. EMERGENCY COLLECTION

Should Contractor, for any reason whatsoever, except the occurrence or existence of any of the events or conditions set forth in Section 28(A) below ("Force Majeure"), refuse or be unable to Collect, transport, and Dispose of any or all the Solid Waste which it is obligated under this Agreement to Collect, transport, and Dispose of for a period of more than seventy-two (72) hours and if, as a result thereof, Solid Waste should accumulate in the Franchise Area to such an extent, in such a manner, or for such a time that the County in the exercise of its sole discretion, should find that such accumulation endangers or menaces the public health, safety, or welfare, then in such event, the County shall have the right, upon twenty-four (24) hour prior written notice to Contractor, during the period of such emergency, to contract on a temporary basis with third parties to Collect and transport any and all Solid Waste which Contractor would otherwise be obligated to Collect and transport pursuant to this Agreement until the events or conditions for Contractor's failure to perform the services under this Agreement have ended.

B. CONTRACTOR TO COOPERATE

Contractor agrees that in such event it will fully cooperate with the County and its third party contractor to affect such a transfer of operations in as smooth and efficient a fashion as is practicable.

C. CONTRACTOR TO PAY COUNTY COSTS

During such time as the County is performing or causing to perform the Collection services itself with its own or other third party personnel and equipment, Contractor shall bill and Collect payment from all users of the Collection services. Contractor shall reimburse the County for any and all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the County during such period within sixty (60) days of Contractor's receipt of written notice to pay. Further, all reasonable costs, fees, rates, and other expenses incurred by the County and/or its third party contractor that exceed those in effect or being incurred or which would have been incurred had no such emergency arisen shall be the responsibility of Contractor and shall be paid to the County within sixty (60) days of Contractor's receipt of written notice to so pay.

D. RIGHT TO PERFORM

In the event Contractor, for any reason whatsoever, fails, refuses, or is unable to Collect, transport, or Dispose of any or all Solid Waste, Recyclables, Green Waste, Bulky Items, Universal Waste, E-Waste, Used Oil, Used Oil Filters, HHW, and/or C&D Debris which is required by this Agreement, at the time and in the manner provided in this Agreement, for a period of more than seventy-two (72) hours, and if, as a result thereof, any or all of these materials should accumulate in the County to such an extent, in such a manner, or for such a time that the County in its sole discretion should find that such accumulation endangers or menaces the public health, safety, or welfare or upon Contractor default, then the County shall have the right, even if Contractor is not in breach of this Agreement, but not the obligation, upon twenty-four (24) hours prior written notice to Contractor during the period of such emergency as determined by the County, to perform, or cause to be

Page 47 of 68

performed, such services itself with its own or other personnel and equipment without liability to Contractor.

E. CONTRACTOR'S NOTICE

Notice of Contractor's failure, refusal, or neglect to Collect, transport, and properly Dispose or process Solid Waste, Recyclables, Green Waste, Christmas trees, Bulky Items, Universal Waste, E-Waste, Used Oil, Used Oil Filters, HHW, and/or C&D Debris may be given verbally by telephone to Contractor at its principal office and shall be effective immediately. Written confirmation of such verbal notification shall be sent to Contractor within twenty-four (24) hours of the verbal notification.

F. INTERRUPTION OF COLLECTION SERVICE

Contractor shall submit to the County for review and approval on or before the effective date of the Agreement, a written Contingency Plan (attached hereto as Exhibit E, and incorporated herein by reference) (the "Contingency Plan") demonstrating Contractor's arrangements to provide vehicles and personnel, to maintain uninterrupted service (to the extent possible), and/or resume service during and after a Force Majeure event. This Contingency Plan shall be specific to the needs of the County and Franchise Area.

In the event of disruption of services due to a Force Majeure event, Contractor and the County shall make every commercially reasonable effort to restart performance hereunder as soon as practicable in accordance with the Contingency Plan, and will take all reasonable steps to overcome the cause of cessation of services.

If a Force Majeure event occurs and disposal services are discontinued for more than seventy-two (72) hours, the County, with the express written consent of Contractor (which consent may be withheld, delayed, or conditioned in Contractor's sole and absolute discretion), may take temporary possession of the facilities and equipment of Contractor necessary to resume disposal services. Under no circumstance shall the County's possession of Contractor's facilities and/or equipment continue for more than thirty (30) days from the date such operations were undertaken. A Force Majeure event shall not relieve a party from its payment obligations under this Agreement.

If Contractor breaches its obligation contained in the Contingency Plan and fails to cure such breach within seventy-two (72) hours of receipt of written notice of such breach from the County, the County shall have the right to terminate this Agreement.

SECTION 17 – PRIVACY

A. PRIVACY OF CUSTOMER INFORMATION

Contractor shall use all reasonable efforts to observe and protect the rights of privacy of its employees and customers. Information identifying individual customers, or the composition or contents of a customer's refuse or Recyclables shall not be intentionally revealed to any person, private agency or company, unless upon the request of federal or state law enforcement personnel, the authority of a court of law, by statute, or upon valid authorization of the customer. This provision shall not be construed to preclude Contractor

Page 48 of 68

from preparing, participating in, or assisting in the preparation of waste characterization studies or Wastestream analyses which may be required by AB 939, or any other reports requested by the County under the Agreement or required or requested by any governmental agency.

B. MAILING LISTS

Contractor shall not market or distribute, outside the normal course of its business, mailing lists with the names and addresses of customers.

C. VIDEO CAMERA MONITORING

Contractor shall comply with all federal and state laws, including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, concerning the use of video monitoring cameras at Contractor's MRF and other areas of Contractor's operations, and shall provide the County evidence of Contractor's compliance. The County shall use good faith efforts to notify Contractor of any theft, violence, or other criminal or otherwise unlawful behavior it observes in monitoring activities at Contractor's MRF.

SECTION 18 - RECORDS AND ACCOUNTING

A. FINANCIAL REPORTING

Contractor shall maintain a proper set of books and records on an accrual basis, and a base year audited financial statement for Waste Connections of California, Inc., dba El Dorado Disposal Service, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, accurately reflecting the business done by Waste Connections, of California, Inc., dba El Dorado Disposal Service. Contractor shall submit to the County each base year a copy of its audited financial statement as per the Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated Areas.

B. SERVICE RECORDS

Contractor shall maintain all records relating to the services provided hereunder, including, but not limited to, customer lists, billing records, route maps, AB 939 records, and customer complaints, for a period of five (5) years from the date of the generation of each such record. The County or its agent(s) shall have the right, upon ten (10) business days advance notice, to inspect all maps, AB 939 records, Contractor's books and records, customer complaints, and other like materials of Contractor which directly relate to Contractor's compliance with the provisions of the Agreement. Such records shall be made available to the County at Contractor's regular place of business, but in no event outside the County of El Dorado. Contractor shall further maintain and make available to the County, records as to number of customers, total and by type, route maps / route listings, service records, and other materials and operating statistics in such manner and with such detail as the County may require. The County shall treat the information required by this paragraph that affects the competitive position of Contractor as confidential information to the extent permitted by law. The County shall not make or retain copies or photocopies containing information set forth in Contractor's confidential financial and business records pertaining to the establishment of rates and payment of franchise fees without executing a confidentiality agreement providing that the County shall hold and keep such copies and photocopies confidential.

C. UNDERPAYMENT OF FRANCHISE FEES

Should any examination or audit of Contractor's records reveal an underpayment of any fee required under this Agreement, the amount of such underpayment shall become due and payable to the County not later than thirty (30) days after written notice of such underpayment is sent to Contractor by the County. Should an underpayment of more than two percent (2%) be discovered, Contractor shall bear the entire cost of the County's audit or examination and said cost shall not be recoverable through rate setting.

D. EXAMINATION OF FINANCIAL RECORDS

- (1) The information required by this section shall pertain to Contractor's operations covered and regulated by this Agreement, and nothing contained herein shall require Contractor to provide the County with information pertaining to Contractor's operations which are not regulated by the County.
- (2) The County shall have the right to inspect or review the payroll tax reports, specific documents or records required expressly or by inference pursuant to this Agreement, or any other similar records or reports of Contractor that is reasonably necessary to evaluate annual reports, compensation applications provided for in this Agreement, and Contractor's performance or other matters directly related to this Agreement. The County, its auditors, and other agents selected by the County, shall have the right, during regular business hours, to conduct unannounced on-site inspections and review of the records and accounting systems of Contractor directly related to this Agreement, and to make copies of any of Contractor's documents directly related to this Agreement. Upon request, Contractor shall arrange for records of related party entities to be made available to the County and its official representatives for review, to the extent such records are reasonably necessary to evaluate annual reports, compensation applications, Contractor's performance, or other matters related to this Agreement.
- (3) Information gained from examination of records pertaining to operations not regulated by the County shall be treated by the County and its agents as confidential information in accordance with applicable state law. The County's agents shall prepare a confidential report regarding the results of their examination of Contractor's non-regulated operations and transactions with Affiliates. The County's agent shall issue its report on Contractor's non-regulated operations and Contractor's transactions with Affiliates to the County's counsel, and said report shall remain confidential, except that the dollar amount and general description of any costs that the County's agent recommends be disallowed shall be disclosed to the Board of Supervisors. If Contractor appeals the conclusions of said report to the Board of Supervisors, Contractor shall decide what portions, if any, of said report shall be disclosed to the Board of Supervisors. The Board of Supervisors shall then consider Contractor's appeal but may, in its discretion, deny said appeal if inadequate information has been disclosed to the Board of Supervisors to make an informed decision on the appeal.

(4) For review of books and other financial records necessary to verify Contractor's income, expenses, assets, and liabilities, "Agent" shall mean an independent Certified Public Accountant or public accountancy firm or other independent agent designated by the County.

E. PUBLIC RECORDS

The County acknowledges that certain records and reports of Contractor are proprietary and confidential. Contractor is obligated to permit the County inspection of certain records, as provided herein, on demand and to provide copies to the County as requested. The County will endeavor to maintain the confidentiality of all proprietary information provided and designated as such by Contractor and the County shall not voluntarily disclose such proprietary information. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any documents provided by Contractor to the County that are public records may be disclosed pursuant to Applicable Laws of California. Nothing in this section will prevent the County from allowing public access to the County's records as provided for under the applicable Laws of California, and in the event any dispute arises as to the public access to information provided by Contractor under the terms of this Agreement, the County shall in its discretion provide public access to said information. Provided by Contractor under the terms of this agreement, the County shall, in its discretion, provide public access to said information according to law or, if necessary, tender the defense of any claims made against the County concerning said information to Contractor. The County shall make a good faith effort to notify Contractor of the intended release.

F. COUNTY ACCESS TO CUSTOMER LISTS

Upon reasonable notice or as otherwise agreed herein, and at those times designated by the County, Contractor shall supply to the County lists of the names of all customers of Contractor who are provided any service by Contractor within the Franchise Area. At the same or other time, the County may request and Contractor shall provide information specifying each customer's address, type of service provided to that customer, the number and type of authorized Solid Waste containers used by or provided to each customer, whether and which customers are believed to be violating this Agreement, any mandatory subscription ordinance or any other provision of the law, and any other information that the County determines, in its sound discretion, reasonably required to monitor implementation of this Agreement and/or discharge the County's responsibilities under the law.

G. BILLING AND PAYMENT

Contractor shall bill all customers for all services, whether regular or special. Contractor shall provide customers with accurate and itemized bills showing charges for all classifications and services, including charges for any applicable late payment fees and, where applicable, tipping fees. Contractor shall also Collect and remit to the County any AB 939 fees and other surcharges imposed by the County on customers within the Franchise Area. Billings shall be made bi-monthly but no less frequently than every quarter and may be mailed at the beginning of the billing period for all services to be provided to Residential and Commercial Solid Waste customers.

Customers may be provided electronic statements and billing per their request. Customer notifications will be provided electronically via e-mail or other electronic notification process to be discussed with the County prior to use.

Page 51 of 68

Upon initiation of service and annually thereafter, Contractor shall send or deliver to its customer, information concerning the conditions of service, including, but not limited to, new programs, rates, fees, charges, service, and Recycling options, payment options, discounts (if any), days of Collections, the amount, and manner of refuse to be Collected, Days and hours of operation for WERS MRF and PHHWCF service level and inquiry / complaint procedures, including the name, address, and local telephone number of Contractor. The form and content shall be subject to the review and approval of the County.

SECTION 19 - REPORTS AND ADVERSE INFORMATION

A. ANNUAL REPORTS

The following list includes reports or data that may be required on an annual basis to be provided by Contractor to the County:

- Electronic Annual Report: Electronic Annual Report (EAR) is part of a performance measurement system that considers factors such as a jurisdiction's program implementation and its per capita disposal rate in determining compliance with AB 939. Data required to complete the EAR reporting requirements will be provided by Contractor to the County by March 1 of each year.
- (2) DTSC Form 303: Title 14, California Code of Regulations, section 18751.2 mandates that each public agency responsible for HHW management shall ensure the amount of material Collected through their program during the preceding reporting period (July 1 through June 30) is reported to CalRecycle by October 1 each year. Contractor will provide the County with the data necessary to complete DTSC Form 303 by August 1 of each year.
- (3) Base and Interim year rate application per the Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated Areas (Exhibit C).
- (4) Annual Transfer Station Report: The Annual Transfer Station Report summarizes the disposal reporting methods. A copy of the Annual Transfer Station Report will be provided by Contractor to the County by March 15 of each year.
- (5) Solid Waste Management Plan: On March 1, 2015 and annually thereafter during the term of this Agreement, Contractor will provide the County with a strategic plan with specific program goals and objectives to increase Diversion rates consistent with the El Dorado County Solid Waste Management Plan. The plan should be based on the results of the prior year's activities and include a discussion of that year's programs, including strengths and weaknesses. The County will present the information to El Dorado Solid Waste Advisory Committee (EDSWAC) as appropriate.
- (6) Processing and Disposal Facility Report:
 - (a) Export Vendors and Locations: Contractor shall submit to the County on a minimum annual basis in conjunction with their Solid Waste rate setting application (base year and interim years) the names and locations of all vendors receiving exports from the MRF, including, but

not limited to, Recyclable commodities, C&D Debris, Landfill materials, and Green Waste.

- (b) Material Processing Locations: With each rate setting application (base year and interim years), Contractor shall submit to the County a list of all facilities where materials are being Processed.
- (c) Diversion Requirements (AB 341): During the term of this Agreement, Contractor shall submit to the County annually, in conjunction with their Solid Waste rate setting application (base year and interim years), and more often if required, Contractor's plan to implement mandatory commercial Recycling and a comprehensive list of businesses that Recycle in the Franchise Area, along with the businesses that do not Recycle in compliance with AB 341.
- (7) Third Party Contractors: Contractor shall submit to the County on a minimum annual basis in conjunction with their Solid Waste rate setting application (base year and interim year) the names of any third party subcontractors associated with the PHHWCF.
- (8) Vendor Change Notification: Contractor shall notify the County of any vendor changes and/or any changes in material Processing locations as they occur.
- (9) Group Collection Area: Contractor shall submit to the County on a minimum annual basis in conjunction with their Solid Waste rate setting application, a list of the Group Collection Areas as provided in Section 6.G. to include: location, customer names, and other information requested by the County.

B. QUARTERLY REPORTS

The following reports are to be provided by Contractor to the County on a quarterly basis:

- (1) Station Disposal Report (Station Notification): Title 14, California Code of Regulations, section 18809.9 requires an operator who sends Solid Waste to another facility within California shall provide the operator of that facility with the percentage of waste assigned to each jurisdiction. Contractor will provide a copy of the information by the 15th day of the month following the end of the quarter.
- (2) A revenue statement setting forth quarterly Franchise Fees, and the basis for the calculation thereof, certified under penalty of perjury by an officer of Contractor.

C. MONTHLY REPORTS

The following reports will be submitted by the tenth (10th) day of each month by Contractor to the County:

- (1) MRF Operations
- (2) Performance Measurements
- (3) Site Assessment for Multi-Family and Commercial customers

D. VENDOR CHANGE NOTIFICATION

Contractor shall notify the County of any vendor changes and/or any changes in material Processing locations as they occur.

Page 53 of 68

E. ADVERSE INFORMATION

Contractor shall provide the County with two (2) copies of all reports or other material adversely reflecting on Contractor's performance under this Agreement, submitted by Contractor to the California EPA or U.S. EPA, CalRecycle, or any other federal, state, or local agency. Copies shall be submitted to the County simultaneously with Contractor's filing of such matters with said agencies. Contractor's routine correspondence to said agencies need not be automatically submitted to the County, but shall be made available to the County upon written request, as provided in this section:

- (1) Contractor shall submit to the County copies of all pleadings, applications, notifications, communications, and documents of any kind, submitted by Contractor to, as well as copies of all decisions, correspondence, and actions by, any federal, state, and local courts, regulatory agencies, and other governmental bodies relating specifically to all material aspects of Contractor's performance of services pursuant to this Agreement. Any data which Contractor seeks to be excluded from provisions of the California Public Records Act shall be clearly identified as such by Contractor with the basis for such exclusion clearly specified. In the event the County receives a request under the Public Records Act, or by subpoena, the County shall notify Contractor to permit Contractor to object to the release of the information requested or subpoenaed.
- (2) Contractor shall submit to the County such other information or reports in such forms and at such times as the County may reasonably request or require.
- (3) All reports and records required under this or any other section shall be furnished by Contractor and the expense therefore in the gathering and preparation of such information, reports, and records shall be included in the base rate.

F. FUTURE LEGISLATION

Contractor will comply with all reporting requirements from future federal, state, and local regulations.

Contractor agrees to render all reasonable cooperation and assistance to the County in meeting the requirements of the County's source reduction and Recycling element and non-Disposal facility element and future legislation and regulatory requirements.

SECTION 20 - REVIEW OF PERFORMANCE AND QUALITY OF SERVICE

A. PERFORMANCE REVIEW

From time to time, at its sole discretion, the County may examine Contractor's operation in order to evaluate whether or not Contractor is operating at a satisfactory level of efficiency and customer satisfaction according to industry standards. Contractor agrees to cooperate in any such examination, and shall permit the County's representatives to inspect, at Contractor's principal place of business, such information pertaining to Contractor's obligations hereunder as the County may require, including, but not limited to, such things as customer inquiry records, Collection routes, and equipment records. Access to Contractor's records shall be subject to Section 18.

Page 54 of 68

B. PUBLIC HEARING

At the County's sole option, within ninety (90) days of the first anniversary of the effective date of this Agreement, and each year thereafter throughout the term of the Agreement, the County may hold a public hearing at which Contractor shall be present and shall participate, to review Contractor's performance and quality of service. The reports required by this Agreement regarding customer complaints shall be utilized as the basis for review. In addition, any customer may submit comments or complaints during the review meetings, either orally or in writing, and these shall be considered.

C. REPORT ON PERFORMANCE

Within thirty (30) days after the conclusion of the public hearing, the County shall issue a report with respect to the adequacy of performance and quality of service. If any non-compliance with the franchise is found, the County may direct Contractor to correct the inadequacies or initiate default proceedings in accordance with Section 15.

D. CUSTOMER SATISFACTION SURVEY

At the County's request and at Contractor's expense, Contractor will survey customers in a mutually agreed upon form, content, and manner. The survey results will be directly returned to the County. Contractor will obtain a copy of the results of the survey. Nothing in this paragraph shall limit the right of the County to conduct additional surveys at its own expense. Contractor shall reasonably cooperate with the County in such cases.

SECTION 21 - SYSTEM AND SERVICES REVIEW

To provide for technological, economic, and regulatory changes in Solid Waste Collection, to facilitate Recycling programs, to promote competition in the Solid Waste industry, and to achieve a continuing, advanced Solid Waste Collection system, the following system and services review procedures are hereby established.

A. PUBLIC HEARING

At the County's sole option, the County may hold a public hearing on or about the first anniversary date of the Agreement to review Contractor's Collection systems and services. Subsequent system and services review hearings may be scheduled by the County each two (2) years thereafter. It is the County's intent to conduct any system and services review concurrently with any annual review of performance and quality of service as provided for in Section 20, above.

B. CONTRACTOR'S REPORT

Sixty (60) days after receiving notice from the County, Contractor shall submit a report to the County indicating the following:

(1) All Solid Waste Collection and Recycling services reported in Solid Waste Collection and Recycling industry trade journals that are being commonly provided on an operational basis, excluding tests and demonstrations, to communities in the United States with comparable populations, that are not provided by Contractor to the County;

Page 55 of 68

- (2) Changes recommended to improve the County's ability to meet the goals of AB 939; and
- (3) Any specific plans for provision of such new services by Contractor along with the estimated expenses and adjustments to rates if any are necessary to compensate Contractor for providing such services, or a justification indicating why Contractor believes that such services are not feasible for the Franchise Area. All plans for new services should be made in accordance with the provisions outlined in the Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated Areas.

C. SERVICES REVIEW TOPICS

Topics for discussion and review at the system and services review hearing shall include, but not be limited to, services provided, customer complaints, rights of privacy, amendments to the Agreement, developments in the law, and new initiatives for meeting or exceeding AB 939's goals and regulatory constraints.

D. CONTRACTOR COOPERATION

County and Contractor may each select additional topics for discussion at any system and services review hearing. Contractor agrees to cooperate in any such examination and shall provide for inspection to the County or its designated representatives, at Contractor's principal place of business, such information as the County may require, including, but not limited to, such things as Collection routes and equipment records.

E. COUNTY'S REPORT

At the conclusion of each system and services review hearing the County may issue a report. The report shall summarize the systems and services review hearing and address services not being provided to the County that are considered technically and economically feasible by the County. The County may require Contractor to provide such services within a reasonable time, for reasonable rates and compensation.

SECTION 22 – COMPENSATION

During the term of this Agreement, Collection rates will be established and adjusted in accordance with the document entitled "Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated Areas" dated ______. A true and correct copy of the Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated Areas is attached hereto as Exhibit B and hereby incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

SECTION 23 - COLLECTION EQUIPMENT

A. VEHICLE STANDARDS

The vehicles shall be designed and operated so as to prevent Collected materials from escaping from the vehicles. Hoppers shall be closed on top and on all sides with screening material to prevent Collected materials from leaking, blowing, or falling from the vehicles. The bodies of any vehicle, or any container, used in Collection or transportation of Solid Waste must have watertight beds of metal or impervious material that can be cleaned.

Page 56 of 68

Contractor warrants that it shall provide an adequate number of vehicles and equipment for the Collection and transportation services for which it is responsible under this Agreement. All vehicles used by Contractor under this Agreement shall be registered with the Department of Motor Vehicles of the State of California, as applicable, shall be kept clean and in good repair. Solid Waste Collection vehicles shall be maintained in a reasonably clean and sanitary condition. Contractor's name, telephone number, and vehicle number shall be visibly displayed on its vehicles. Loads shall be kept completely covered at all times except when material is being loaded or unloaded, or when vehicles are in the process of Collection. Collection vehicles shall be designed and operated while in route in such a manner as to prevent Solid Waste and/or liquids from leaking, escaping or spilling. Any spillage of materials shall be immediately cleaned up by Contractor at Contractor's sole expense.

Notwithstanding the generality of the foregoing, Contractor's equipment shall at all times be in conformance with the regulatory requirements applicable thereto.

B. LOW EMISSIONS REQUIREMENT

If changes in federal, state, or local laws, including, but by no means limited to, the California Air Resources Board Heavy Duty Engine Standards contained in Title 13, California Code of Regulations, section 2020 et seq., and the Federal EPA's Highway Diesel Fuel Sulfur regulations, mandate that Contractor convert or retrofit its Collection fleet to use the most cost-effective means to reduce air pollutant emissions, Contractor shall take all necessary steps to so comply, and shall be in full compliance with all other federal, state, and local clean air requirements.

C. WEIGHT RESTRICTIONS

Contractor shall not load vehicles in excess of the manufacturer's recommendations or limitations imposed by state or local weight restrictions on vehicles. Contractor acknowledges that the County may document compliance with this provision of the Agreement through review of scale tickets and records of the Disposal and Processing facilities.

D. EQUIPMENT LIST

In accordance with the provisions outlined in the Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated Areas, Contractor shall provide the County a written list of all equipment (including, but not limited to, trucks and containers) being used within the Franchise Area, including make and model, age, mileage, or hours of operation and type of vehicle.

SECTION 24 - PUBLIC ACCESS TO CONTRACTOR

A. OFFICE HOURS

Contractor's office hours shall be, at a minimum, 8:00 am to 5:00 pm, Monday through Friday, except holidays. An adequate number of Customer Service Representatives of Contractor shall be available during office hours for communication with the public in person and by telephone at Contractor's principal office in Placerville, CA. Contractor shall

Page 57 of 68

also provide the County with an emergency telephone number for use during other than normal business hours. Contractor shall have a representative or answering service available at said after-hours telephone number during all hours other than normal office hours.

B. REGULAR MEETINGS WITH THE COUNTY

Contractor shall meet with the County at 2850 Fairlane Court, Placerville, California, 95667 or at Contractor's place of business, at the discretion of the County, to discuss matters of mutual concern, including, but not limited to, problems with Contractor's service, compliance with AB 939, and future planning on a regular schedule determined by the County. The person attending these meetings on behalf of Contractor shall be vested with sufficient authority to make decisions binding on Contractor.

SECTION 25 - CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS

A. SERVICE COMPLAINTS

- (1) All customer complaints shall be directed to Contractor. Contractor shall record all complaints received by mail, email, by telephone, or in person (including date, name, address of complainant, and nature of complaint). Contractor agrees to use its best efforts to resolve all complaints by the close of business of the second regularly scheduled waste Collection day following the date on which such complaint is received. Service complaints may be investigated by the County or his/her designee. Unless a settlement satisfactory to the complainant and Contractor is reached, the complainant may refer the matter to the County for review.
- (2) Contractor will maintain records listing the date of customer complaints, the customer, the nature of the complaint or request, and when and what action was taken by Contractor to resolve the complaint. All such records shall be maintained for a period of twenty-four (24) months and shall be available for inspection by the County.

B. COMPLAINT RESOLUTION

Contractor will use its best efforts to resolve all complaints by close of business of the second business day following the date on which the complaint is received. Contractor shall notify customers that service complaints may be reviewed by the County if a satisfactory solution is not reached.

C. COUNTY REVIEW OF COMPLAINTS

A customer dissatisfied with Contractor's decision regarding a complaint may ask the County to review the complaint. To obtain this review, the customer must request the County's review within thirty (30) days of receipt of Contractor's response to the complaint, or within forty-five (45) days of submitting the complaint to Contractor if Contractor has failed to respond to the complaint. The County may extend the time to request its review for good cause.

D. REMEDY

The County shall determine if the customer's complaint is justified, and if so, what remedy, if any, shall be imposed. The remedy under this section shall be limited to a rebate of customer charges related to the period of breach of any of the terms of this Agreement.

E. NON-COLLECTION TAGS

When Solid Waste is not Collected from any customer other than due to withholding of service pursuant to Section 26(F), Contractor shall notify its customer as to why that Collection was not made as applicable, and shall attach tags approved by the County to the applicable container which clearly identify the reasons for such non-Collection. The County shall approve in advance Contractor's written procedures for determining when not to Collect Solid Waste, and Contractor shall adhere to these approved written procedures in making such determinations and placing non-Collection tags on a customer's Solid Waste container.

SECTION 26 - SERVICE EXCEPTIONS / HAZARDOUS WASTE NOTIFICATIONS

A. COMPLIANCE WITH HAZARDOUS WASTE LAWS

The parties hereto recognize that federal, state, and local agencies with responsibility for defining Hazardous Waste and for regulating the Collection, hauling, or Disposal of such substances, are continually providing new definitions, tests, and regulations concerning these substances. Under this Agreement, it is Contractor's responsibility to keep current with the regulations and tests on such substances, and to identify such substances, and to comply with all federal, state, and to the extent not inconsistent with this agreement, local regulations concerning such substances. Contractor shall make every reasonable effort to prohibit the Collection and the Disposal of Hazardous Waste in any manner inconsistent with federal and state law. Contractor shall have no duty or responsibility to Collect or manage Hazardous Waste, other than as explicitly set forth in this Agreement.

B. NOTICE TO AGENCIES REGARDING TOXICS

Contractor has represented to the County that Contractor will carry out its duties to notify all agencies with jurisdiction, including DTSC and local emergency response providers, and, if appropriate, the National Response Center, of reportable quantities of Hazardous Waste, found or observed by Contractor in Solid Waste anywhere within the County, including on, in, under, or about the County's property, including streets, easements, right of ways, and the County's waste containers. In addition to other required notifications, if Contractor observes any substances which it or its employees reasonably believe or suspect to contain Hazardous Wastes unlawfully Disposed of or released on the County's property, including streets, storm drains, or public right of ways, Contractor will also immediately notify the County.

C. INSPECTION FOR TOXICS

Contractor shall conduct a visual inspection, consistent with its normal operating procedures, of all Solid Wastes that it Collects, transports, and/or Disposes pursuant to this

Agreement for the purpose of discovering, identifying, and refusing to Collect, transport and dispose of Hazardous Wastes or materials.

D. NO COLLECTION OR DISPOSAL OF HAZARDOUS WASTE

Except as provided in this subsection, Contractor shall not knowingly Collect, handle, Process, transport, arrange for the transport of, or Dispose of Hazardous Waste pursuant to this Agreement.

E. AMMUNITIONS, EXPLOSIVES, OR OTHER ORDNANCE

Contractor shall not knowingly accept, Collect, handle, Process, transport, or arrange for the transport of ammunition, explosives, or other ordnance. However, in the event that this type of material is identified in the MRF Contractor shall appropriately arrange for safe disposal.

F. HAZARDOUS WASTE PROGRAM

Contractor agrees to provide, upon County's request, and with appropriate fee reimbursement if justified, and in accordance with the Solid Waste Rate Setting Policies and Procedures Manual for Unincorporated Areas, a program for residents in Contractor's Franchise Area identifying Hazardous Waste and complying with all federal, state, and to the extent not inconsistent with this Agreement, local statutes and regulations dealing with Hazardous Waste. Subject to permitting, said program shall include, and be expanded to include, curbside Collection of all items listed in "Section 1, Definition GG", excluding radioactive material, attached hereto, and incorporated into this Agreement, which may be amended from time to time by the County.

SECTION 27 – INDEMNIFICATION

A. INDEMNIFICATION OF COUNTY

Contractor shall protect, defend (with counsel selected by Contractor and reasonably acceptable to the County), indemnify and hold harmless the County, its board members, officers, directors, employees, agents, consultants, successors, and assigns (hereinafter "County Indemnified Parties") from and against any and all claims, suits, losses, damages, and liability for damages of every name, kind, and description, including attorney's fees and costs incurred, brought for, or on account of, injuries to or death of any person, including, but not limited to, workers, County employees, and the public, or damage to property, or any economic or consequential losses, which are claimed to or in any way arise out of or are connected with Contractor's services, operations, or performance hereunder, regardless of the existence or degree of fault or negligence on the part of the County Indemnified Parties, except for the sole active negligence of the County, its officers and employees, or as expressly prohibited by statute provided that if a final decision or judgment allocates liability by determining that any portion of damages awarded is attributable to an Indemnified Party, then County shall pay such portion of damages. This duty of Contractor to indemnify and save the County Indemnified Parties harmless includes the duties to defend set forth in California Civil Code section 2778.

B. HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCE INDEMNIFICATION

Contractor shall protect, defend (with counsel selected by Contractor and reasonably acceptable to the County), indemnify, and hold harmless the County, its board members, officers, directors, employees, agents, consultants, successors, and assigns (hereinafter "County Indemnified Parties") from and against all claims for actual damages (including, but not limited to, special and consequential damages), natural resources damages, punitive damages, restitution, injuries, costs, response costs, remediation, and removal costs, losses, demands, debts, liens, liabilities, causes of action, suits, legal, or administrative proceedings, interest, fines, charges, penalties, and expenses (including, but not limited to, attorneys' and expert witness fees and costs incurred in connection with defending against any of the foregoing or in enforcing this indemnity) of any kind whatsoever paid, incurred or suffered by, or asserted against, the County Indemnified Parties, arising out of or resulting from any repair, cleanup, detoxification, or preparation and implementation of any removal, remedial, response, closure, corrective action, or other plan (regardless of whether undertaken due to governmental action), concerning the release or threatened release of any hazardous substance or Hazardous Waste or MSW at any place where Hazardous Waste or MSW is or has been transported, transferred, Processed, stored, Disposed, or has otherwise come to be located by Contractor pursuant to the Agreement, which may result in a release of Hazardous Waste or hazardous substance into the environment. As used herein, the phrases "hazardous substance" and "Hazardous Waste" shall coincide with the broadest definition thereof contained in any present or future federal or state laws. The foregoing indemnity is intended to operate as an agreement pursuant to the Comprehensive Environmental Response and Liability Act ("CERCLA") section 107(e); Title 42 U.S. Code section 9607(e); and California Health & Safety Code section 25364, to defend, protect, and hold harmless and indemnify the County Indemnified Parties from liability. This provision shall survive the termination of this agreement between Contractor and the County. The foregoing indemnity shall not have any dollar limitation. The foregoing indemnity is for the exclusive benefit of the County Indemnified Parties and in no event shall such indemnity inure to the benefit of any third party.

The foregoing indemnity shall not apply with respect to:

- (1) Any Hazardous Waste or hazardous substance generated by the County and delivered by the County to Contractor; or
- (2) The Disposal or release of hazardous substances or Hazardous Waste, which Disposal or release has resulted from the negligence or willful misconduct of the County in Collecting or delivering hazardous substances or Hazardous Waste in County vehicles to Contractor's facilities. This indemnity shall include and cover any activities of Contractor under the Prior Agreements. Nothing in these exclusions shall be deemed a waiver of any other rights or claims the County may have against Contractor independent of this indemnity.

C. AB 939 INDEMNIFICATION

Contractor shall defend with counsel reasonably acceptable to the County, indemnify and hold the County harmless from any and all fines, penalties and assessments levied against or threatened to be levied against the County for the County's failure to meet the requirements of AB 939, its amendments or any successor legislation and/or all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, but only to the extent such liability is caused by

Page 61 of 68

Contractor's failure to comply with Contractor's express obligations under this Agreement and/or Contractor's failure to comply with said laws, rules, or regulations binding on Contractor, including, but not limited to, failing to timely supply the County with information or reports in order to comply with AB 939. Contractor shall not be obligated to indemnify the County for fines or penalties caused by the County's modifications of Contractor's information, by a change by the County in the scope of work hereunder which materially and negatively affects the ability of Contractor to perform Diversion activities which contribute to the County's compliance with AB 939, or by the County's own acts or omissions which result in the County's failure to provide timely reports to the state. In addition, Contractor's duty to indemnify under this Section is subject to the following restrictions:

- (1) Contractor's obligation to indemnify the County shall not be enforceable if the penalty imposed by the Board of Supervisors is based solely upon the failure of the County to establish and maintain a source reduction and Recycling element pursuant to California Public Resources Code sections 41000 et seq.
- (2) No payment required under Contractor's obligation to indemnify the County may exceed that portion of any penalty assessed by the Board of Supervisors against the County that was caused by Contractor's failure to comply with an express obligation or requirement of this Agreement. Further, the Contractor shall not be liable under the indemnity obligation to the extent that the Contractor's failure to comply resulted from the County's action or failure to act, determined as a result of judicial review, hearing, or appeal to CalRecycle.

SECTION 28 – GENERAL PROVISIONS

A. FORCE MAJEURE

Contractor shall not be in default under this Agreement and shall not be liable for failure to perform under this Agreement if Contractor's performance is temporarily prevented or delayed in the event of Force Majeure. Force Majeure means riots, wars, sabotage, civil disturbances, acts of terrorism, insurrection, explosion, natural disasters such as floods, earthquakes, landslides, and fires, strikes, lockouts, and other labor disturbances, excessive snow, acts of God, or other similar or dissimilar events which are beyond the reasonable control of Contractor. Force Majeure do not include events related to the financial inability of Contractor to perform or the failure of Contractor to obtain any necessary permits or licenses from other governmental agencies, or the right to use the facilities of any public utility where such failure is due to the acts or omissions of Contractor. Notwithstanding anything to contrary herein, in the event a strike and/or similar labor action or a labor disturbance interrupts Collection, transportation, and/or Disposal of Solid Waste by Contractor as required under this Agreement, the County may elect to exercise its rights under Section 16 of this Agreement.

In the event of Force Majeure and Contractor is unable to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the County shall have the right to perform or to contract on a temporary basis with third parties to provide the Collection services that are not being provided by Contractor during the period of the Force Majeure event and charge Contractor for the

Page 62 of 68

reasonable direct and indirect expenses (including administrative and overhead) incurred by the County in this regard. If the Force Majeure event continues for a period of ninety (90) days and Contractor remains unable to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the County shall have the right to terminate this Agreement.

B. STRIKES OR SIMILAR LABOR ACTION

In the event of a strike and/or similar labor action, but not including a lockout as set forth below, whereby employees of Contractor refuse to perform work for Contractor at normally anticipated levels or efficiency (a "strike and/or similar labor action") which affects the ability of Contractor to provide Collection services within the Franchise Area in accordance with this Agreement, the following guidelines shall apply:

- (1) In conjunction with the execution of this Agreement, Contractor has discussed with the County a strike (and/or similar labor action) Contingency Plan. From time to time during the term of this Agreement, Contractor and the County shall meet to discuss changes to the strike Contingency Plan.
- (2) Within twelve (12) hours of notification to Contractor by labor that it has authorized a strike and/or similar labor action, Contractor shall notify Contract Administrator, by phone and e-mail.
- (3) Within three (3) work days of a strike and/or similar labor action, if Contractor is not providing Collection services in accordance with normal scheduled pickups, Contractor shall meet with the County to develop a strike (and/or similar labor action) implementation plan.
- (4) Within five (5) work days of a strike and/or similar labor action, if Contractor is not providing Collection services in accordance with the normal schedules and volumes set forth in this Agreement or the schedules and volumes in the agreed upon strike implementation plan, if such plan has been agreed to by the County, the County shall have the right, but not the obligation, to bring in outside forces to provide Collection services which are not being provided by Contractor and charge Contractor for the reasonable direct and indirect expenses (including administrative and overhead) incurred by the County in this regard.
- (5) Within ten (10) work days of a strike and/or similar labor action, Contractor is to use commercially reasonable efforts to bring in alternate work forces and provide Collection services in accordance with the normal schedules and volumes set forth in this Agreement, or the schedules and volumes in the agreed-upon strike implementation plan, if such plan has been agreed to by the County.

In the event Contractor's alternate work force is unable to provide Collection services in accordance with the normal schedules, volumes, and routing set forth in this Agreement (except for some reasonable delays resulting from such event of Force Majeure), or the schedules, volumes, and routing in the agreed-upon strike (and/or similar labor action) implementation plan, if such plan has been agreed to by the County, the County shall have the right, but not the obligation, to bring in outside forces to provide Collection services which are not being provided by Contractor and charge Contractor for the reasonable direct and indirect expenses (including administrative and overhead) incurred by the County in this regard.

In the event the County elects to retain its own work force, the County shall discuss the alternatives with Contractor before retaining such work force. Once the County retains its own work force, the County shall periodically, but not more often than weekly, invoice Contractor for the reasonable direct and indirect expenses of retaining such outside services and Contractor shall reimburse the County for such expenses within ten (10) work days of invoice. The County shall have the right to charge Contractor interest on invoices which are unpaid after ten (10) work days at the rate of one and one half percent (1.5%) per month (not compounded).

Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 28(B), the occurrence of strike and/or similar action shall be deemed an event of Force Majeure (as provided for in Section 28(A)) and shall not be considered an event of default by Contractor, and shall not entitle the County to any type of liquidated damages resulting from such strike or similar action.

C. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Contractor is an independent Contractor, and not an officer, agent, servant, or employee of the County. Contractor is solely responsible for the acts and omissions of its officers, agents, employees, Contractors, and subcontractors, if any. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as creating a partnership or joint venture between the County and Contractor. Neither Contractor nor its officers, employees, agents, or subcontractors shall obtain any rights to retirement or other benefits, which accrue, to the County's employees.

D. RIGHT OF ENTRY

Contractor shall have the right, until written notice revoking permission to pass is delivered to Contractor, to enter or drive on any private street, court, place, easement, or other private property for the purpose of Collecting or transporting Solid Waste pursuant to this Agreement.

E. LAW TO GOVERN / VENUE

The Law of the State of California shall govern this Agreement. In the event of litigation between the parties, venue in state trial courts shall lie exclusively in the County of El Dorado. In the event of litigation in a U.S. District Court, exclusive venue shall lie in the Eastern District of California.

F. FEES AND GRATUITIES

Contractor shall not, nor shall it permit any agent, employee or subcontractor employed by it, to request, solicit, demand or accept, either directly or indirectly, any compensation or gratuity for the Collection of Solid Waste otherwise required to be Collected under this Agreement.

G. PRIOR AGREEMENTS AND AMENDMENTS

No amendment of this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing duly executed by the parties. This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties, and no promises, representations, warranty, or covenant not included in this Agreement have been or are relied upon by either party. This Agreement is intended to supersede and replace all prior agreements between the parties, except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement.

Page 64 of 68

H. COMPLIANCE WITH AGREEMENT

Contractor shall comply with those provisions of the El Dorado County Solid Waste Ordinance Code, as it now exists and may be amended from time to time, which are applicable, and with any and all amendments to such applicable provisions during the term of this Agreement, provided that such provisions are not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement.

I. NOTICES

All notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered or sent by United States certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, addressed as follows:

To County:	Gerri Silva, Environmental Management Division Director County of El Dorado, Community Development Agency 2850 Fairlane Court Placerville, CA 95667
To Contractor:	Susan L. VanDelinder, Division Vice President El Dorado Disposal 4100 Throwita Way Placerville, CA 95667
With a copy to:	Waste Connections, Inc. Attn: Legal Department 3 Waterway Square Place, Suite 110 The Woodlands, TX 77380

or to such other address as either party may from time to time designate by notice to the other given in accordance with this section. Notice shall be deemed effective on the date personally served or received via United States certified mail.

J. SAVINGS CLAUSE AND ENTIRETY

If any non-material provision of this Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such provision shall not affect the validity and enforceability of any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

K. ENTIRE AGREEMENT / INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS

This document incorporates and includes all prior negotiations, correspondence, conversations, agreements, and understandings applicable to the matters contained in this Agreement. The parties understand and agree that there are no commitments, agreements, or understandings concerning the subject matter of this Agreement that are not contained or referred to in this document. Accordingly, it is agreed that no deviation from the terms of this Agreement shall be predicated upon any prior representations or unreferenced agreements, whether verbal or written. This Agreement and Exhibits A - E, attached hereto and incorporated by this reference as though fully set forth herein represent the entire agreement of the County and Contractor with respect to the services to be provided under this Agreement. No prior written or verbal statement or proposal shall alter any term or provision of this Agreement.

Page 65 of 68

L. JOINT DRAFTING

This Agreement was drafted jointly by the parties to the Agreement.

M. JUDICIAL REVIEW

Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent either party from seeking redress to the Courts for the purposes of legal review of administrative proceedings in regard to rate setting or the County's actions taken pursuant to this Agreement, or for the purpose of interpreting or enforcing the provisions contained in this Agreement.

N. POLICE POWERS

Nothing in this Agreement is intended to or may limit the County's authority pursuant to its police power.

O. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

Subject to the other terms and conditions herein, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective successors, permitted assigns, administrators and trustees of the County and Contractor.

P. SURVIVAL

All confidentiality and indemnification provisions of this Agreement shall survive this Agreement.

Q. ADMINISTRATOR

The County Officer or employee with responsibility for administering this Agreement is Gerri Silva, Environmental Management Division Director, or her successor.

R. NO USE OF COUNTY NAME

Contractor will not do business as or use a corporate, partnership, venture, or other formal name, containing the name of the County or implying government ownership.

S. PARTIES IN INTEREST

Nothing in this Agreement, whether express or implied, is intended to confer any rights on any persons other than the parties and their representatives, successors, and permitted assigns.

T. WAIVER

Waiver of any term or condition contained in this Agreement by any party to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall not be construed as a waiver of a subsequent breach or failure of the same term or condition or a waiver of any other term or condition contained in this Agreement. The subsequent acceptance by the County of any fee, tax, or any other monies which become due from Contractor to the County shall not be deemed to be a waiver by the County of any breach or violation of any term, covenant, or condition of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the County and Contractor have executed this Agreement this _____

day of _____, 20___.

COUNTY OF EL DORADO

By _____ Chair Board of Supervisors County of El Dorado

ATTEST:

Contractor

By_____ Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

CONTRACTOR

By: _____ Its: President

By: ______ Its: Secretary

Page 67 of 68

- A. FRANCHISE AREA
- B. SOLID WASTE RATE SETTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES MANUAL FOR UNINCORPORATED AREAS
- C. PROPOSED DRAFT RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL RATES AND CHARGES
- D. AUGUST 13, 2014 LETTER "EL DORADO DISPOSAL LONG TERM HAULING CONTRACT AND IMPROVEMENTS TO WESTERN EL DORADO RECOVERY SYSTEM'S MATERIAL RECOVERY AND TRANSFER FACILITY
- E. CONTINGENCY PLAN